

Open Access Repository

www.ssoar.info

Social Security for Third-Country Nationals in Germany: Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Müller, Andreas; Mayer, Matthias M.; Bauer, Nadine

Veröffentlichungsversion / Published Version Arbeitspapier / working paper

Empfohlene Zitierung / Suggested Citation:

Müller, A., Mayer, M. M., & Bauer, N. (2014). Social Security for Third-Country Nationals in Germany: Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN). (Working Paper / Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl (FZ), 57). Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Forschungszentrum Migration, Integration und Asyl (FZ); Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge (BAMF) Nationale Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN). https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-67729-3

Nutzungsbedingungen:

Dieser Text wird unter einer Deposit-Lizenz (Keine Weiterverbreitung - keine Bearbeitung) zur Verfügung gestellt. Gewährt wird ein nicht exklusives, nicht übertragbares, persönliches und beschränktes Recht auf Nutzung dieses Dokuments. Dieses Dokument ist ausschließlich für den persönlichen, nicht-kommerziellen Gebrauch bestimmt. Auf sämtlichen Kopien dieses Dokuments müssen alle Urheberrechtshinweise und sonstigen Hinweise auf gesetzlichen Schutz beibehalten werden. Sie dürfen dieses Dokument nicht in irgendeiner Weise abändern, noch dürfen Sie dieses Dokument für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, aufführen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Mit der Verwendung dieses Dokuments erkennen Sie die Nutzungsbedingungen an.



Terms of use:

This document is made available under Deposit Licence (No Redistribution - no modifications). We grant a non-exclusive, non-transferable, individual and limited right to using this document. This document is solely intended for your personal, non-commercial use. All of the copies of this documents must retain all copyright information and other information regarding legal protection. You are not allowed to alter this document in any way, to copy it for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the document in public, to perform, distribute or otherwise use the document in public.

By using this particular document, you accept the above-stated conditions of use.







Social Security for Third-Country Nationals in Germany

Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Working Paper 57

Andreas Müller Matthias M. Mayer Nadine Bauer





Social Security for Third-Country Nationals in Germany

Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN)

Andreas Müller Matthias M. Mayer Nadine Bauer

Abstract 5

Abstract

This work describes third-country nationals' access to social security benefits in Germany. It was drafted by the National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN), located at the Federal Office for Migration and Refugees, as Germany's contribution to a European comparative study of third-country nationals' access to social benefits.

The study illustrates the structure and functioning of contribution-financed statutory social insurance as well as tax-financed social welfare systems in Germany. While the benefits of social insurance (statutory pension insurance and unemployment insurance, partially statutory health insurance) provide usually temporary coverage commensurate to social status calculated as a percentage of earned income, basic security benefits should ensure a sociocultural minimum living income.

The study analyses the conditions under which third-country nationals receive access to individual social benefits as well as the consequences of social security dependence for one's residence status. In general, neither statutory social insurance nor the social welfare system differentiate between third-country nationals, EU citizens and German nationals, rather they guarantee the most equal access possible to social benefits. Access to social benefits is partially excluded for third-country nationals; however, in those cases, where access is provided, claiming basic security benefits can result in consequences to the residence status, depending on the residence title.

In the context of increasing cross-border mobility, the portability of social benefit claims poses a migration-specific challenge for modern welfare states. In order to provide legal stability in this area and prevent the mobility-based loss of insurance claims, Germany has concluded a number of bilateral social insurance agreements with third countries.

The social coverage of third-country nationals is practically depicted in three case studies that link various social emergencies with different residence conditions.

Contents

Contents

	Abstract	5
1	Introduction	10
2	Migration in the German Welfare State – Institutional Requirements	12
3	Requirements for Third-Country Nationals Claiming Social Security Benefits	18
4	Administrative Practices for Third-Country Nationals Claiming ocial Security Benefits	34
5	External Dimensions of Social Security	37
6	Case Studies	39
7	Conclusion	42
	References	43
	Abbrevations	45
	List of Tables	46
	Publications of the Research Centre of the Federal Office	47

8 Contents

Contents

1	Introduction		10
	1.1	Goals	10
	1.2	Definitions	10
	1.3	Methods	11
7	Mig	gration in the German Welfare State –	
	Inst	titutional Requirements	12
	2.1	Social security in the German welfare state	12
	2.1.1	How social security works in Germany	12
	2.1.2	Organisation	14
	21.3	Financing	15
	2.2	Link between immigration policy and social policy	16
	2.3	Planned changes to social security benefits eligibility	17
2	Reg	uirements for Third-Country Nationals Claiming	
3	Soc	ial Security Benefits	18
	3.1	Benefits during illness	21
	3.2	Retirement benefits	24
	3.3	Maternity and paternity benefits	24
	3.4	Family benefits: child allowance and parental allowance	25
	3.5	Unemployment benefits	26
	3.5.1	Unemployment benefits	26
	3.5.2	Basic security benefits for employment seekers	
		(unemployment benefits II/social security allowance)	28
	3.6	Minimum income for those unable to work	30
	3.7	Coverage for self-employed	32
	3.8	Family unification	32
	3.8.1	Family members of German nationals	32
	3.8.2	Family members of foreigners	32
	3.9	Persons with settlement permits	33

Contents 9

4	Administrative Practices for Third-Country Nationals Claiming Social Security Benefits		
	4.1 Discretionary criteria and deciding factors	34	
	 4.2 Guidelines and other supporting measures 4.3 Effects of claiming social security benefits on residence status 	35 35	
5	External Dimensions of Social Security	37	
J	5.1 Bilateral agreements	37	
	5.2 Contents of bilateral agreements	38	
	Case Studies	39	
6	6.1 Case study 1	39	
	6.2 Case study 2	40	
	6.3 Case study 3	40	
7	Conclusion	42	
_	References	43	
	Abbrevations	45	
	Tables	46	
	Publications of the Pescarch Centre of the Federal Office	,_	

10 Introduction

1 Introduction

A significant part of the basis of the legitimacy of modern welfare states lies in protecting their citizens against social distress. However, this poses the question of how everyone residing within a national territory, regardless of nationality, should be protected against social distress, particularly in states marked by continuous immigration. Yet, immigration is not only significant to the benefits aspect of social security systems – in the face of demographic change and a shifting ratio of contributors to and recipients of social security within the host society, it also plays an important role in financing social security systems.

In this context, including immigrants in social security systems is crucial for their effectiveness. This work describes the social security systems of Germany with a particular focus on inclusion of third-country nationals.1 Following an overview of the areas of the social security system in Chapter 2, the interplay between social security and residence law will be described in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 describes the administrative practices associated with third-country nationals applying for social security benefits. Chapter 5 addresses the coordination between the social security systems of various welfare states through international agreements, the portability of social security benefits and the specific issue of migration between welfare states. In closing, Chapter 6 discusses the options available to third-country nationals for claiming social security benefits, as well as its consequences to continued residence in the form of three fictional case studies. The same case studies are used in all national reports in order to ensure the highest degree of comparability between the studies furnished by each Member State.

1.1 Goals

The goal of the study is to highlight the political and administrative organisation of social security for third-country nationals (not including those eligible under the Asylum Seekers Benefits Act – AsylbLG). The legal framework, administrative practices and discretionary powers involved in granting social security benefits will be discussed, along with how options for accessing the social security system differ between third-country nationals and German citizens.

This report is the German contribution to the EMN study titled "Migrant access to social security and healthcare: policies and best practices". The study is being conducted in all EU Member States and Norway under joint parameters. The results of the national studies will then be compiled into a comparative synthesis report on the administrative and political practices associated with the social protection of third-country nationals across Europe. The outcome of the study will be made available to policymakers on the European and national level. In doing so, the study should contribute to acknowledging of the specific situation of third-country nationals in European welfare states.

1.2 Definitions

Social security

The term "social security" refers both to the institutions protecting individuals against collective risks and to the idea that members of a political community are entitled to security based on their membership (Kaufmann 2001). The first definition of this term is primarily used in this work. This gives it a broader meaning than the terms "social insurance" and "welfare state", since it does not specify how individuals are protected against social risks.

Not included are benefits granted under the Asylum Seekers Benefit Act (AsylbLG) to asylum seekers, foreigners with exceptional leave to remain, and persons with an enforceable obligation to depart and their family members. These were already discussed in the EMN study on the organisation of reception facilities for asylum seekers (Müller 2013).

Introduction 11

Third-country nationals

According to Article 2, Section 6, of the Regulation (EC) No. 562 (Schengen Borders Code), third-country nationals are persons who are not EU citizens² according to Article 20 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) and do not have the right to freedom of movement as defined in Article 2, Section 5, of the Schengen Borders Code. Nationals of member states of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA), i.e., Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Switzerland, are not third-country nationals according to this definition (cf. EMN 2012).

Social security benefits

The term refers to any kind of monetary, non-monetary benefits or services a person receives due to a defined emergency regardless of any additional requirements that must be met in order to claim it. Social security benefits include both contribution-financed benefits provided by a social insurance agency and tax-financed benefits provided by the state.

Contribution-based social security benefits

These social security benefits can be traced back to Bismarck's social legislation from the late 19th century.3 Receiving benefits from social insurances is – with regard to pension insurance - contingent upon prior contribution periods (1); they are partially financed by contributions from employed persons and of the employers respectively (2) and their amounts are mostly proportional to the contributions made (equivalence principle) (3). Benefits are thus usually linked to periods of past employment; their amounts are usually based on the income from that previous employment. Accordingly, the goal of this kind of social policy is not to prevent poverty and social distress, but primarily to - usually temporarily - preserve economic status in times of unemployment (Bonoli 1997: 357; Weir 2001: 16433). In Germany, this includes the contributionfinanced benefits from statutory social insurance.

2 An EU citizen is a person who has citizenship in a Member State of the European Union. EU citizenship is supplemental to national citizenship but does not replace it.

Tax-financed social security benefits

These social security benefits are usually granted universally upon need (1); they are financed by general tax revenue (2) and have a standard benefit level (3). These benefits are accordingly intended to prevent poverty and other social distress. Welfare states that primarily offer tax-financed benefits are also called Beveridge⁴ states (Bonoli 1997: 357). This term is traced back to British social legislation from the 1940s (Flora et al. 1998: 19). In Germany, these benefits are primarily provided by tax-financed social welfare systems.

1.3 Methods

The report is primarily based on existing research as well as on relevant legal texts. The later ones primarily include the German Social Code (SGB), the Residence Act (AufenthG), the Federal Parental Allowance and Parental Leave Act (BEEG), the Income Tax Act (EStG) and the Federal Child Allowance Act (BKGG). Below the legal level, the report uses an array of operating instructions, administrative guidelines and aids for employees of various social insurance agencies. Another important source is the "Social Security Overview" (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales 2013) published by the Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (BMAS) each year.

³ Under former chancellor Otto von Bismarck, health insurance was introduced in the German Reich in 1883, accident insurance in 1884 and statutory pension insurance in 1889. Unemployment insurance was introduced in the Weimar Republic in 1927.

⁴ The term comes from the British economist and politician Henry Beveridge, who was deeply involved in building Great Britain's social security system after World War II.

Migration in the German Welfare State – Institutional Requirements

Social and economic distress is prevented in Germany by a heavily regulated and partially state-organised institutional framework that has been developed over time and expanded through a number of reforms. The central components of this system are legal provisions used to determine claims for public assistance. However, the inclusion of third-country nationals in the German social policy depends on the interplay between welfare state and immigration policy.

In order to illustrate this link, this chapter first provides an overview of the social security system in Germany before highlighting the relationship between welfare state and immigration policy.

2.1 Social security in the German welfare state

Protection against social distress was institutionalised as a duty of the state following industrialisation. However, developed welfare states differ drastically in regard to how and how much social security benefits are provided. Multiple models have been developed in comparative welfare state research in order to analyze these differences (for an overview, see Bonoli 1997). For this study, it is recommended to resort to the distinction between Beveridgean and Bismarckian systems, as these can not only be used to compare different welfare states, but also to classify the provision of various social security benefits within a single welfare state.⁵ Furthermore, the options avail-

able to third-country nationals to access Bismarckian contribution-based social security benefits differ from those to tax-financed social security benefits under the Beveridge principle, as will be shown in Chapter 3. For this reason, the German welfare state is described using the analytical distinction between tax-financed and contribution-financed social security benefits.

While this distinction is used above all to compare national welfare states, the distinction between taxand contribution-financed social security benefits can also be applied on the level of individual social security benefits. This seems particularly useful in studying the inclusion of immigrants in social security systems, since – as will be illustrated in the following chapters – the residential status of third-country nationals affects the possibility and consequences of claiming benefits differently, depending on whether such benefits are tax-financed or contribution-financed. In this respect, this distinction has a greater additional analytical value than the orientation on the classification by Esping-Andersen (1990) commonly used in migration research.

2.1.1 How social security works in Germany⁶

The core of the German social security system is, first, a contribution-based statutory social insurance with its five branches: health insurance, long-term care insurance, pension insurance, accident insurance and unemployment insurance. Second, a tax-financed social welfare system grants benefits based on means testing regardless of contributions. These include inter alia basic benefits for employment seekers, which

⁵ There are also other classification systems, in particular the one developed by Esping-Andersen (1990) that distinguishes liberal Anglo-Saxon, from social democratic Scandinavian and conservative continental European welfare states. Due to its primarily comparative focus and convergence processes between different types of welfare states that have been observed during recent years (Fehmel 2012), this study does not use this model.

This section is based on the guide "Your Social Security Rights in Germany" (KOM 2012) released as part of the Mutual Information System for Social Protection (MIS-SOC).

has developed from social benefits (Sozialhilfe) and unemployment aid (Arbeitslosenhilfe), social welfare benefits, and housing allowances. In addition, child allowances are another kind of social policy instrument which is tax financed but nevertheless provided independently from individual need.

However, the protective function of the social insurance system is linked to the employment status of contributors. This is generally referred to as an employment-based social insurance system consisting in close conjunction between statutory social insurance and what is known as the "standard employment relationship". Only those whose employment history is characterised by such a standard employment relationship can fully benefit from the social insurance system (Vobruba 1990). A standard employment relationship is defined as continuous employment subject to contributions to social insurance with stable or increasing pay. Social insurance only provides its full protection during intermittent interruptions in the standard employment relationship. However, the inverse also applies: the less a person's employment history reflects the standard employment relationship, the less protection is provided by social insurance. Thus the amount of pension claims depends on the contributions made to pension insurance, just as the protection of unemployment insurance can only be utilised for a limited period of time. Flexible, lowpaying or intermittent forms of employment therefore tend to be excluded from the protection of social insurance, since the insurance benefits can fall below the minimum living wage.7

Unemployment benefits (Arbeitslosengeld – ALG) provided by the unemployment insurance pursuant to the Third Book of the Social Code amount to 60% of prior net income for those unemployed without children and 67% of prior net income for those unemployed with children. The claiming period depends on age and length of employment prior to unemployment. Those who have made contributions to unemployment insurance for at least 12 months are entitled to ALG for a period of six months; an insurance period of 24 months increases the possible claiming period to 12 months. Those over 50 years of age who have made contributions to unemployment insurance for at least

The requirement for claiming pension insurance benefits is a minimum insurance period of five years (qualifying period), during which contributions have been made. Periods of private domestic care for close relatives and child-rearing are also taken into account in the qualifying period. Those completing the qualifying period and who have reached retirement age may claim a standard pension. Retirement age will be gradually increased to 67 years by 2029. The amount of the pension is calculated from the length of insurance coverage, employment pay compared to the average income level, and the current national average contribution to pension insurance. It is possible to go into retirement before reaching the statutory retirement age, albeit with deductions (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales 2013: 111-128).

In contrast to statutory unemployment and pension insurance, non-cash benefits can be immediately claimed from statutory health insurance providers in the event of illness (without any prior minimum qualifying periods). In the event of illness, health insurance covers the cost of necessary medical care regardless of the amount of contributions or income.

With few exceptions, even those without income are required to carry statutory health insurance (for details, see Section 3.1).

In addition to medical care, statutory health insurance agencies provide compensation for lost income during periods of prolonged illness in the form of a sickness allowance. While an employer is required to continue paying the previously received wage in full for the first six weeks, the health insurance agency begins providing the sickness allowance after this period. The amount of this sickness allowance is between 70% and 90% of the previous regular income and is provided for a maximum of 78 weeks within a three-year period. The equivalence principle is once again in effect in regard to such cash benefits.

³⁰ months prior to unemployment may receive ALG for up to 15 months. The maximum continuous claiming period for ALG is 24 months for those aged 58 or older who have made contributions to unemployment insurance for at least 48 months prior to unemployment (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales 2013: 29).

⁷ In such cases, additional tax-financed benefits for supplementing basic income can usually be claimed.

The focus on employment not only results from the dependency on prior periods of contribution, it also manifests itself in administrative processes: upon being hired, the employer registers the employee with the social insurance agency. The employee is first registered with the health insurance provider, which in turn forwards the registration to long-term care insurance, pension insurance and unemployment insurance providers. The self-employed must register themselves with the appropriate health insurance provider. Except for a few occupations (e.g., public officials, judges and soldiers), all employees whose income does not exceed an annually defined upper threshold are required to enter the insurance scheme.

For those whose social insurance coverage is insufficient to cover basic needs or whose employment is not subject to statutory social insurance contributions and are therefore excluded from insurance protection, there is a social welfare system that is designed to provide a sociocultural minimum living wage. This system is anchored in German Basic Law and is based on the constitutional principle of human dignity in combination with the principle of the welfare state (Article 1, Subsection 1, and Article 20, Subsection 1, GG). In this system, basic security benefits for employment seekers (unemployment benefits II - ALG II) is provided for those who are able to work but do despite intensive efforts not manage to find employment or whose income is despite employment too low to secure their livelihood. Supplementary benefits for employment seekers can be provided as well if claims for unemployment benefits from the unemployment insurance are insufficient to sustain ones livelihood. This can occur when, e.g., periods of previous employment are insufficient to establish insurance protection, or when income subject to social insurance contribution was so low prior to unemployment that benefits under ALG fall below the sociocultural minimum living wage.

For those unable to work who do not live in a common household with a person able to work, there is a social welfare system also designed to provide a sociocultural minimum living wage in the form of social welfare benefits. The sociocultural minimum living wage is determined by the income and consumption sample. Here, consumption patterns of low income households are analysed and standardized need levels are determined by age and domestic situation: a single adult or a single parent receives a standard payment

of €391 per month (1 January 2014) in addition to costs for adequate housing. Furthermore, one-time benefits can be provided for special expenditures, such as the initial furnishing of an apartment. Additional payments can be provided for certain groups (e.g., children, single parents, pregnant women) to cover additional specific needs. The basic security benefits for a) persons over 65 and for b) persons over 18 having a permanent completely reduced earning capacity whose claims to statutory pension benefits fall below the sociocultural minimum living wage is also covered by social welfare, based on the principle of subordination: basic security benefits and social benefits are only provided to employment seekers when all other means of securing a minimum living wage are exhausted and any existing wealth has been depleted (up to exemption limits).

2.1.2 Organisation

Social security benefits in Germany are provided by the state and by non-state providers. Tax based social security benefits, in particular benefits for securing a means of subsistence, are usually provided by the state/municipal bodies, while social insurance is provided by non-state public entities. However, their organisation, financing and services are subject to heavy standardisation by the German Social Code (Boeckh et al. 2006: 192-194).

Statutory pension insurance is provided by the national branch Deutsche Rentenversicherung Bund, Deutsche Rentenversicherung regional providers, Deutsche Rentenversicherung Knappschaft-Bahn-See, and the social insurance provider for agriculture, forests and horticulture as the agricultural pension insurance provider.

Statutory health insurance is provided by 134 health insurance agencies. These are organised either on the national (the majority) or the regional levels. Aside from some company health insurance funds only accessible to a specific company's employees, health insurance providers may be chosen freely. Each health insurance provider is organisationally linked to a long-term care insurance provider independently responsible for providing benefits when long-term care is required. All persons with statutory health insurance are automatically insured with the corresponding long-term care insurance provider.

Statutory accident insurance is provided by the employer's mutual insurance associations, the social insurance provider for agriculture, forests and horticulture as the agricultural employer's mutual insurance association and public accident insurance providers. Statutory unemployment insurance is organised by the Federal Employment Agency (BA). The BA is divided into a headquarters, regional offices and the local employment agency offices. Unemployment insurance covers all employees (wage and salary), trainees/apprentices and disabled youths.

These insurance providers operate autonomously in the various branches of social insurance, using selfgoverning bodies (representative committees and boards/councils) comprised as a rule equally of representatives of employers and policyholders.⁸

Social insurance providers are subject to the oversight of the proper state authorities. Providers directly under federal control, who cover more than the territory of one Land are in general overseen by the Federal Insurance Office. Agencies under Länder control are overseen by the federal Land in which they are head-quartered. The Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs and, in part, the Federal Insurance Office provide oversight for any basic and cross-sectional tasks carried out by the Deutsche Rentenversicherung Bund.

2.1.3 Financing

The social security system is financed through social insurance contributions by employers and employees, as well as through general tax income.

Persons with more than marginal employment⁹ are obligated by law to make contributions to statutory health, long-term care, unemployment and pension insurance. The amount of the contributions is a certain

percentage of overall income. Employees and employers share the cost of contributions to social insurance, whereby the percentage of contributions differs between social insurance branches. The contributions to the accident insurance are provided entirely by the employer.

Unlike statutory social insurance, the social security benefits provided by social support and welfare systems are completely financed by taxes; this pertains to benefits whose amount and right to claim is not tied to periods of previous employment which include basic security benefits for employment seekers, social benefits, and child and housing allowances. Even parental allowance provided during parental leave after a child's birth is based on regular income earned, though financed through taxes.

However, it must be noted that the distinction between contribution- and tax-financed social security benefits can be misleading, since statutory social insurance benefits are also tax subsidised if the social insurance agencies' funding acquired by contributions is insufficient to provide benefits to those eligible – or if the social insurance is assuming special tasks. A prime example of this is the federal pension insurance subsidy financed by general tax income and "intended to compensate for [...] duties assigned by legislators for which there is no contribution-based funding" (Boeckh et al. 2006: 190). Federal subsidies totalled Euro 65.6 million in 2012 (Deutsche Rentenversicherung 2013), meaning approx. one-quarter of statutory pension insurance funding was provided by federal subsidies. This formed 21.4% of the Federal Government's total planned expenditures for the year 2012.

In addition to federal subsidies, legislators required the Federal Government to make a federal guarantee to provide any additional funding required in the event that the pension insurance were unable to meet its payment obligations with its own funding (Section 214, Subsection 1, SGB VI).

While the amount of pension payments is determined by the amount and duration of contributions made, pension payments are not paid from reserve funds generated by previous contributions, but from ongoing contributions in a pay-as-you-go system.

⁸ With unemployment insurance, representatives of public entities are also included among the employer and policyholder representatives. The self governing bodies of the social insurance provider for agriculture, forests and horticulture are comprised of employers, policyholders and in addition by the self employed who do not have employees themselves.

⁹ Marginal employment refers to those earning less than €450 per month (as of 01 January 2013).

2.2 Link between immigration policy and social policy

Generally, claiming social security benefits is not tied to nationality or residence title, regardless of whether the benefits are financed from contributions or taxes. Notwithstanding, third-country nationals are - under specific preconditions and dependent upon their residence title - subject to specific exclusions from benefits or their benefit claim is restricted to specific kinds of benefits (Section 23, Subsection 1 SGB XII). In addition, claiming child and parental allowances¹⁰ is excluded (see chapter 3). The German Social Code is not applicable to asylum seekers, civil war refugees and other persons with temporary residence titles on humanitarian grounds, persons with exceptional leave to remain, persons with an enforceable obligation to depart - though the threat of deportation is still not or not any more enforceable – and their family members. Instead; their vital needs¹¹ are being covered by the Asylum Seekers Benefit Act (AsylbLG) since 1993.

While residential status has only in cases defined by the Social Code impact on claiming social security benefits, the opposite cannot be said. Obtaining a residence title generally requires "that the foreigner's livelihood is secure" (Section 5, Subsection 1, Sentence 1, Number 1, AufenthG). According to Section 8, Subsection 1, AufenthG, this condition must also be met when extending a residence permit. This requirement makes in particular claiming tax-financed basic security benefits problematic, since it can possibly conflict with extending a residence title. If social benefits are claimed, it can also lead to expulsion at the discretion of the Foreigners Authority (Section 55, Subsection 2, Sentence 1, Number 6, AufenthG). On the contrary, claiming contribution-financed social security benefits is not an issue, since they are funded by the beneficiaries' own contributions. The German Residence Act defines securing livelihood as follows: "A foreigner's livelihood is secure when he or she is able to earn their living, including adequate health insurance coverage,

without recourse to public funds. For the purposes of this definition, such funds do not include child benefits, children's allowances, child-raising benefits, parental allowances, and educational and training assistance in accordance with Book Three of the Social Code, the Federal Education Assistance Act or the Upgrading Training Assistance Act, and public funds based on own contributions or granted in order to enable residence in Germany" (Section 2, Subsection 2, AufenthG).

Beneath the statutory level, the connection between social policy and integration policy is subject of political measures, particularly in the health and long-term care sectors. Access by third-country nationals to social security benefits may not be explicitly addressed, but improvement in services provided for those with a migration background, is. The Federal Government's National Action Plan - Integration, for example, emphasises that long-term care insurance benefits should be better tailored to the needs of people with immigration record (Bundesregierung 2012: 169). The Federal Government's commissioner for integration has a similar view, criticising that, "There are indications that migrants with foreign nationalities and/or little knowledge of German are informed less about benefits and claim long-term care insurance benefits less often than actually needed" (Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration 2012: 328; cf. also Kohls 2012: 5).

Regarding measures on inclusion into the labour market, the Federal Employment Agency, for example, offers special labour market development programmes for persons with migration backgrounds (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales 2013: 27). However, these programmes do not aim to ensure social protection in the event it cannot be provided independently, i.e., through the labour market, rather they seek to ensure better integration into the labour market in order to reduce dependency on transfer benefits. These programmes are not just reserved for third-country nationals, but to all persons with migration backgrounds available to the German labour market, regardless of nationality.

Particular migration-specific challenges arise primarily with regard to the possibility of preserving entitlements for benefits from the social security system of one country after immigrating to another country or

¹⁰ An exception is claiming parental/child allowance by third-country nationals with certain residence titles (Section 1, Subsection 3, BKGG and Section 1, Subsection 7, BEEG).

¹¹ The amount of standard benefits under the AsylbLG is calculated according to the foundations for the regulations in SGB II and SGB XII (BVerfG of 18 July 2012, 1BvL 10/10, 1 BvL 2/11).

returning to the country of origin. This phenomenon occurs regardless of nationality and can affect migrating Germans as well as EU citizens and third-country nationals alike.

The portability of social security claims was already addressed in 2007 in the Federal Government's National Integration Plan (NIP), which has since been continued in the form of the National Action Plan – Integration (NAP-I). Aside from relevant EU provisions designed to secure the portability of social security benefits as well as pension claims, Germany has concluded bilateral agreements with a number of states in order to – besides adding up insurance periods for meeting the minimum insurance period required by the statutory pension insurance – avoid redundant social security obligations (see also Chapter 5).

2.3 Planned changes to social security benefits eligibility

Need for the reform of social security is mainly perceived in relation to benefits for asylum seekers. This need for reform originates from the decision of the Federal Constitutional Court (BVerfG) of 18 July 2012. With this sentence the BVerfG declared the amount of the benefits granted under Section 3 AsylbLG unconstitutional and demanded the legislator to find a new regulation for securing the minimum subsistence. According to the coalition agreement (CDU et al. 2013: 110) the requirements of the BVerfG shall be implemented speedily. Especially the levels of benefits shall be calculated in the future in a transparent way, reality oriented tailored to the needs way and they shall be regularly adjusted. For the time until the new regulation will come into force the BVerfG adopted a transitory regulation. This transitory regulation is implemented by the Länder since August 2012 so that even today reasonable provisions just below the level of SGB II/SGB XII are safeguarded.

Furthermore, CDU, CSU and SPD agreed in the context of the coalition agreement to regulate more precisely the eligibility criteria and the exclusion clauses for the basic security benefits for job seekers (EU citizens) according to the rulings of the European Court of Justice (CDU et al 2013: 108). These changes and specifications might have consequences for third-country nationals' access to the social security system as well.

3 Requirements for Third-Country Nationals Claiming Social Security Benefits

Except for some provisions of European law and a series of international agreements, national law and thus comprehensive, special regulations for foreigners through various pieces of social legislation apply to third-country nationals. Third-country nationals are not treated as a homogeneous group. While social security benefits can generally be claimed regardless of nationality, peculiarities can arise from the specific nationality, the type and purpose of the granting of residence as well as the length of residence.

German social law includes the social insurance systems, support benefits and the social welfare system. The social insurance systems consist of health insurance (SGB V), pension insurance (SGB VI), unemployment insurance (SGB III), accident insurance (SGB VII) and long-term care insurance (SGB XI). The study focuses on the first three legal foundations of the social insurance systems.¹²

There are also support benefits, which include family benefits such as child allowance (Income Tax Act – EstG, BKGG) and parental allowance (BEEG). 13

Social welfare benefits, also known as minimum basic security benefits (SGB II, SGB XII, AsylbLG) (Frings 2008: Rn 3, 4) serve as the lowest safety net of the German social system.

What all social security benefits have in common is that they are only available to people with a certain relationship to German territory. Section 30, Subsection 1, SGB I, provides the general rule, according to which the Social Code only applies to persons who have their domicile or usual place of residence in the Federal Territory. Most benefit claims filed by immigrants are measured by this requirement. Exemptions from the domicile or usual residence requirement can be found in EU law as well as individual social laws (Frings 2008: recital 5 and 7)

Third-country nationals require a residence title to enter and reside in Germany (Section 4, Subsection 1, AufenthG). Exemptions to this can be found in EU law or made by legal regulation.

The issuance of a residence title usually requires a foreigner's livelihood to be secure (Sections 5, Subsection 1, Numbers 1, 9, Subsection 2, Number 2, in conjunction with Section 2, Subsection 3, AufenthG) and that there are no grounds for expulsion (which include criminal acts, drug addiction, and claiming of benefits under SGB XII for oneself or a family member).

The study addresses the residence titles "settlement permit", "residence title for employment reasons", and "residence permit for family reasons". 14

Aside from requirements relating to residence law, the close connection between the social security systems and employment status also affects foreigners (Frings 2008: recital 8).

¹² Unless otherwise explicitly stated, the statements in this chapter refer to the Overview of the Social Security System in Germany (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales 2013) published by the BMAS as well as the "Your social security rights in Germany" (KOM 2012) by the European Commission.

¹³ This includes the Advance Child Support Act (UVorschG - Unterhaltsvorschussgesetz), which is not addressed in this study.

¹⁴ Since the Asylum Seekers Benefit Act provides an independent security system for asylum seekers, those with exceptional leave to remain, and other persons with uncertain residence status, social security benefits under this law are not addressed here.

Subject to differing provisions in the Social Code (Section 27 SGB II), third-country nationals have the same claim to social security benefits as Germans, provided their domicile or usual residence is in Germany (Sec-

tion 30, Subsection 1 and 3, SGB I). Social security benefits based on own contribution payments are protected as property.

Table 1: Overview of social security system and its coverage of third-country nationals

Social Security Benefits	Benefits and Programmes	Financing	Access for Third-Country Nationals
	Examinations for early detection of illness Medical care Medication, remedies and aids Dental treatment In-home nursing and house-hold help Hospital care Travel costs	Contribution-financed, contribution varies depending on insurance. General contribution percentage is 15.5% of a policyholder's income subject to contribution. Employees provide 8.2% of their pay, employers pay 7.3%.	Persons, who have their domicile or usual residence in Germany, receive health insurance coverage according to the provisions for statutory and private health insurance. Membership in the statutory health insurance (GKV) is contingent upon fulfilment of specific criteria. Employment, which is subject to mandatory social insurance, claiming unemployment benefits or – under certain conditions – unemployment benefits II leads to compulsory health insurance. Spouses and children of policyholders are under certain circumstances covered by health insurance as well. Voluntary health insurance is possible upon first employment in Germany and after previous statutory or family insurance (for
Cash benefits during illness	Sickness allowance total- ling 70% of regular income earned	Contribution-financed, contribution varies depending on insurance. General contribution percentage is 15.5% of policyholder income subject to contribution. Employees provide 8.2% of their pay, employers pay 7.3%.	details see the provisions in the text below). While claiming cash benefits during illness, coverage by the statutory health insurance is preserved.
Maternity and paternity	Medical care and midwife support during pregnancy and after birth Supply with medication, bandaging, remedies and aids Childbirth In-home nursing Household help	Contribution-financed, contribution varies depending on insurance. General contribution percentage is 15.5% of policyholder income subject to contribution. Employees provide 8.2% of their pay, employers pay 7.3%.	
Family benefits	Child allowance	Tax-financed	It is generally possible to claim child/parental allowances, but it is linked to specific residence conditions (see Section 3.4).
Disability benefits	Rehabilitation measures Retirement due to inability to work/reduced ability	Financed by contributions to statutory pension insurance. The amount of contributions is 18.9%. Contributions are made equally by employer and employee.	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income and family situation regardless of nationality.
Retirement and old-age benefits	Standard pension Early retirement	Financed by contributions to statutory pension insurance. The amount of contributions is 18.9%. Contributions are made equally by employer and employee.	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income and family situation regardless of nationality.
Survivors' benefits	Widow and widower pension Pension splitting Orphan's annuity	Financed by contributions to statutory pension insurance. The amount of contributions is 18.9%. Contributions are made equally by employer and employee.	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income and family situation regardless of nationality.

Om 45 - 1.1	Tuestment	Financed by any decrease and the	Vee the income of the control of the
On-the-job accident and occupational illness benefits	Treatment	statutory accident insurance. The per-	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income and family situation regardless of nationality
	Benefits for participating in the work force		
	Benefits for participating in community life		
	Long-term care benefits		
	Injury allowance and transition allowance		
	Retirement pension		
	Survivors' annuity		
	Severance payment		
	Death benefit		
Unemployment benefits	Unemployment benefits from the unemployment insurance	Financed by contributions to statutory unemployment insurance. The contributions total 3.0% of pay. Contributions are made equally by employer and employee.	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income regardless of nationality; excep- tions apply with regard to the provision of vocational training.
	Basic security benefits for employment seekers (unemployment benefits II)	Tax-financed	Yes, but residence title may not be renewed depending on residential status. Third-country nationals who are neither employed nor self-employed, and foreigners, whose rights of residence is derived from the purpose of seeking employment, and their family members are excluded.
Minimum living wage	Social benefits	Tax-financed	Yes, but Section 23 Subsection 1 SGB XII provides benefits only to foreigners without consolidated residence status (Section 23 Subsection 1 Sent. 4 SGB XII). It provides only those mandatory benefits specified by Section 23 Subsection 1 Sent. 1 SGB XII. Other benefits can only be provided on a discretionary basis. Due to Section 21 SGB XII social benefits can be provided only for those foreigners unable to work of above the age of 65. Only social benefits for old aged persons and for handicapped can be provided irrespective of the residence status and are thus not subject to any exclusion. Depending on the residence status, claiming social benefits may prevent the residence permits from being extended. Also, claiming social benefits may result in a discretionary expulsion. Foreigners, whose right of residence is derived from the purpose of seeking employment or who entered the country in order to claim social benefits, and their family members are excluded. Those eligible for benefits under the Asylum Seekers Benefit Act are also excluded. Yet even those who are subject to the exclusion clause provided by Section 23 Subsection 3 Sent. 1 SGB XII receive medical emergency treatment pursuant to Section 23 Subsection 3 Sent. 2 SGB XII.
Long-term care benefits	Non-cash benefits Cash benefits	Financed by contributions to statutory long-term care insurance. Contributions total 2.05% of pay. Contributions are made equally by employer and employee.	Yes, the insurance requirement is determined by income and family situation regardless of nationality.

3.1 Benefits during illness

Claim to non-cash benefits during illness

The entire resident population is generally required to carry coverage against illness. Those, who do not have any other coverage for illness, are subject to mandatory insurance with a statutory or private health insurance provider.

As a basic principle, domicile or usual residence in Germany is required, as for all social security benefits (Section 30 SGB I).

Policyholders

Pursuant to Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 1 SGB V, employees must be covered by statutory health insurance if their regular gross income is more than Euro 450 per month and does usually not exceed a specific upper threshold per year – a.k.a. annual income threshold. The general annual income threshold for 2013 is Euro 52,500 (for 2014: Euro 53,550), corresponding to 75% of the annual contribution assessment threshold (West) for pension insurance for blue-collar and white-collar workers. The GKV¹⁵ Financing Act reregulated the insurance exemption for employees with pay above the mandatory insurance threshold. Since 31 December 2010, those exceeding the annual income threshold one time are once again exempt from having to carry insurance.

Aside from employees, the following groups are also required to carry insurance under Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 2-12, SGB V:

- Students at state and state-recognised universities
- Second-chance education interns and trainees/ apprentices
- Retirees who fulfil a minimum insurance period (see below)
- Disabled persons employed in a recognised workshop or participating in vocational development programs
- 15 Statutory Health Insurance (Gesetzliche Krankenversicherung GKV).

- Unemployed persons receiving unemployment benefits I or – under certain requirements – unemployment benefits II
- Agricultural entrepreneurs
- Family members working on a regular basis for agricultural entrepreneurs if they are at least 15 years old or are employed as trainees/apprentices in the company
- Artists and writers according to the Artists Social Insurance Act.

Regarding health insurance for retirees, the following applies: Persons with a claim for statutory pension benefits are covered by the health insurance for retirees if they have spent at least 9/10ths of the second half of a retiree's working life (time frame) between first employment and claiming pension benefits as either a policyholder of statutory health insurance or as a dependent on another's plan (cf. Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 11, SGB V). This is based on the second half of their working life; i.e. the period that precedes the coverage by health insurance as a retiree (time frame). The time frame ends on the day the pension claim becomes valid.

Marginally employed persons (working mini-jobs) are not required to carry insurance (Section 7, SGB V).

The following persons may voluntarily join statutory health insurance within three months:

- Persons who take up employment in Germany for the first time and who are exempt from statutory health insurance (employees whose annual income lies above the annual income threshold)
- Persons, who move their usual residence to Germany, can voluntarily enter the statutory insurance if they fulfil the required minimum preceding insurance periods
- The severely disabled (under certain requirements)
- Persons, of whom the statutory health insurance expires by law without a prior-ranking insurance obligation immediately following up, for example as employees or as dependents, are covered by

health insurance providers as voluntary policy holders (continuing insurance pursuant to Section 188 Subsection 4 SGB V). If they declare to leave their health insurance provider within a given time frame, this becomes valid only, if they can prove an alternative coverage against illness.

Persons voluntarily joining statutory health insurance, e.g., employees with pay above the annual income threshold, and the self-employed, can also take out a health insurance policy through a private insurance provider.

Since 1 April 2007, persons with no other claim to coverage in the event of illness who were previously enrolled in the statutory health insurance are required to have statutory health insurance (Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 13, SGB V – so-called subordinate compulsory insurance). They become compulsory holders of their previous statutory health insurance provider or its legal successor effective the first day in-country without other coverage in the event of illness, at the earliest on 1 April 2007. The same applies to those who have until now not been member of a statutory or private health insurance and who are required to have statutory health insurance.

Under Section § 193, Subsection 3, Sentence 1, Insurance Contract Act (VVG), as of 1 January 2009, every person residing in Germany is required to take out a private health insurance policy if they are not covered by statutory health insurance or are otherwise insured. Inpatient and outpatient treatment must be covered by this policy; the deductible cannot exceed Euro 5,000 per calendar year.

Not required to have statutory health insurance and thus required to have private health insurance are, in particular, those who are self-employed on a regular basis – if they were not previously enrolled in statutory health insurance.

Family insurance

Children, spouses and registered partners of policy holders are insured without having to pay contributions, if they have their domicile or usual residence in Germany and if their monthly income does not regularly exceed a certain threshold (for 2014: Euro 395 per month). For the marginally employed, the monthly threshold is Euro 450. Another precondition for fam-

ily insurance is, that the dependents are not subject to compulsory insurance for another reason, and that they are not without insurance or waived from the requirement to hold a compulsory insurance.

Special case: age 55 and above

Persons who have reached the age of 55 gain access to the statutory health insurance under special conditions (Section 6 Subsection 3a SGB V). Persons not being covered by statutory health insurance, who are 55 or older, are exempt from the health insurance (Section 6 Subsection 3a SGB V), i.e. they do not become policy holders of a statutory health insurance provider, even if they fulfil a requirement that would usually subject them to compulsory insurance (for example taking up employment), if they:

- Have not been covered by compulsory health insurance for five years before they would have become obligated to hold an insurance (time frame) and
- If they have been without insurance for two and a half year during this five year period (for example if their annual income was above the threshold or as a civil servant), if the insurance obligation has been waived, or if they were full-time self employed

The last condition however cannot be fulfilled by persons, who have been living abroad in non-EU countries, or if they return to Germany after a longer absence, so that the above mentioned exceptions from compulsory insurance are not applicable.

The provisions of Section 6 Subsection 3a SGB V also pertain to the spouses of civil servants, self employed or employees not subject to compulsory insurance, if they become subject to compulsory insurance after the age of 55 and have not been compulsory insured before.

Contribution percentage

Since January 2009, a standard general and a reduced contribution percentage apply nationwide to statutory health insurance.

The general contribution percentage, which applies to, e.g., contributions from pay and pension, is 15.5%. This share consists of a contribution percentage of 14.6%, half of which must be paid by both employer and employee or pension insurance provider and retiree, plus

a 0.09 contribution percentage points that are only paid by health insurance policyholders. On 26 March 2014, the federal cabinet agreed on a draft act to further develop the financial structure and quality of the statutory health insurance (GKV-financial structure and quality development act – GKV-Finanzstrukturund Qualitäts-Weiterentwicklungsgesetz, GKV-FQWG). According to the draft, from 1 January 2014 on the contribution package financed by employees and employers shall be reduced from 15.5% to 14.6%. Furthermore, the draft adheres to the locking up of employers' contributions at 7.3%, and it introduces additional contributions independent of one's income, which will entail the previously contribution share of 9% that was attributed to policyholders.

The reduced contribution percentage is 14.9%. This reduced contribution percentage applies to statutory health insurance policyholders who cannot claim sickness allowance. These include certain groups (e.g., early retirees under Section 50, Subsection 1, Sentence 1, Number 3, SGB V, employees in the release period for partial retirement) and voluntary policyholders who have waived claims to sickness allowance. This contribution percentage also includes the 0.9% due from policyholders. The contributions are calculated from income subject to contribution and are placed into the health fund along with tax money.

Claim to cash benefits during illness

Employees unable to work due to illness have a claim to continued pay in Germany regardless of the weekly or monthly work hours required. This claim to continued pay is only valid if the employment relationship has existed for four uninterrupted weeks.

In the event of a no-fault inability to work due to illness, the employer usually continues the pay for the first six weeks of disability (continued pay in the event of illness, Section 3, Subsection 1, Continued Pay Act – EntgFG).

Sick persons not or no longer receiving pay from their employer may claim sickness allowance provided by their health insurance provider. This allowance is 70% of regular income earned, but only up to a maximum of 90% of the regular net income earned.

However, sickness allowance can be paid for the same illness for a maximum of 78 weeks over a period of three years. After this three-year period elapses, pay-

ment over another three-year period can be considered under certain circumstances.

Claiming other benefits, such as pensions for reduced earning capacity or disability, or foreign benefits, will result in the discontinuation or curtailment of the sickness allowance.

Minimum residence period

There is generally no minimum residence period in Germany for claiming health insurance benefits if the general requirements (e.g. usual residence in Germany) are met. A special case applies for the subordinate compulsory insurance under Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 13, SGB V. According to Section 5, Subsection 11, Sentence 11 SGB V, third-country nationals are only subject to the compulsory insurance according to the aforementioned regulation if they have a settlement permit or residence permit issued for more than 12 months. In this regard, issuance of the residence title must not be dependent on a secured livelihood (Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 1, AufenthG).

Since the issuance of a residence title is usually based on a secured livelihood (and with health insurance thereby covered for, cf. Sections 5, Subsection 1, Numbers 1, 9, Subsection 2, Sentence 1, Number 2, AufenthG), also in the case of residence permit issued for longer periods, it will usually not happen that subordinate compulsory insurance pursuant to Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 13, SGB V is required (Just 2012: 68).

Therefore, the insurance requirement under Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 13, SGB V only pertains to third-country nationals who are due to special legal regulations exempt for the obligation of a secured livelihood, e.g., family members of German nationals.

Migration-specific requirements

Insofar as migration-specific requirements have to be met to claim benefits in case of illness, these are specified under "Minimum residence period".

Portability of social security benefits

In accordance with the general provisions of statutory health insurance, third-country nationals can seek treatment in other EU countries if they are residing there temporarily and treatment during the stay is necessary for medical reasons.

3.2 Retirement benefits

General requirements

Insured persons who have reached the standard retirement age and fulfilled the general five-year qualifying period can claim a standard pension (Section 35 in conjunction with Section 50, Subsection 1, Number 1, SGB VI), with a standard retirement age being 65. It will be gradually increased to 67, starting with those born in 1947.

Employees and employers each generally pay half of the applicable percentage for pension contributions (18.9% since 1 January 2013). How high the contribution is, depends on an employee's pay up to the contribution assessment threshold of currently Euro 5,950 per month in the original federal Länder and Euro 5,000 in the new federal Länder.

Minimum residence period

Child-rearing periods under Section 56, Subsection 1, SGB VI, are only included in calculating pension claims if the rearing took place in Germany (Frings 2008: recital 162). Further special provisions for third-country nationals do no longer exist.

Minimum contribution period

The minimum contribution for claiming retirement benefits is the same for Germans and foreigners. These requirements are described under "General requirements".

Migration-specific requirements

Insofar as migration-specific requirements for claiming retirement benefits exist, these are described under "Minimum residence period" and "Portability".

Portability

If foreigners leave the Federal Territory before they have been paying contributions for five years, they can have their own share of the pension contributions, which have already been made, paid out; however their employers' contributions will not be paid out. According to the Federal Constitutional Court, protected property under Article 14 GG only refers to one's own contributions, not to those made by an employer. Under Section 210, SGB VI, pay-out occurs two years after departure (Frings 2008: recital 162).

3.3 Maternity and paternity benefits

General requirements

All women with claim to non-cash health insurance benefits can also claim non-cash benefits during pregnancy and after childbirth.

Female health insurance policyholders receive a maternity allowance during the statutory protection term and for the day of birth if they are entitled to sickness allowance in case of an inability to work, or if they are not receiving their regular pay due to the protection terms.

The legal foundations for this are found in the Maternity Leave Act (for women who are employed) as well as in the German Social Code V (specifically Sections 24c-24i SGB V). Even the Act on Health Insurance for Farmers contains regulations regarding maternity allowance.

Non-cash maternity benefits include (Section 24c, SGB V):

- Medical care and midwife assistance during pregnancy and after childbirth
- Midwife assistance
- Medications, bandaging, remedies and aids
- Assisted childbirth
- In-home nursing
- Household help

Maternity allowance is paid for six weeks before and eight weeks after childbirth (12 weeks for premature and multiple births). For premature births, the protection period after childbirth is extended by the number of days that could not be claimed prior to the birth. Maternity allowance is based on income, but is capped at Euro 13 per calendar day. The employer pays any difference between maternity allowance and the actual pay. Female employees who themselves are not enrolled in statutory health insurance (e.g., those with private insurance or enrolled as dependents on another statutory health insurance plan), receive a maternity allowance totalling Euro 210, paid by the Federal Government.

Minimum residence period

The required minimum residence period derives from the provisions for benefits during illness as described in Section 3.1.

Minimum contribution period

The required minimum contribution period derives from the provisions for benefits during illness as described in Section 3.1.

Migration-specific requirements

Nationality does not play a role in maternity leave. Only the place of employment must generally be in Germany.

Portability

The provisions regarding portability are identical to those described in Section 3.1 for benefits during illness.

3.4 Family benefits: child allowance and parental allowance

General requirements

Persons residing or usually residing in Germany can typically claim child and parental allowance for biological or adopted children as well as a spouse's children (stepchildren) under the following requirements. The definitions under Section 30, Subsection 3, SGB I, apply for the provisions "residence/domicile" and "usual residence". Child allowance can also be claimed for grandchildren living in the household or foster children.

Child allowance

According to Section 62 in conjunction with Section 32, Subsections 1 and 2, EStG, child allowance can usually be claimed for all the aforementioned children:

 Until the age of 18, regardless of the parents' or the child's income (Section 32, Subsection 3, EStG).

Once a child has crossed this age threshold, child allowance can continue to be claimed if the child:

has not yet reached the age of 21, is not employed in Germany or another EU/EEA-Member State, or Switzerland, and is registered with the respective employment agency as seeking employment (Section 32, Subsection 4, Number 1, and Sentence 2, EStG),

- has not yet reached the age of 25 and is attending university or a vocational school, or is in a transition period of at most four months between two stages of education, or is volunteering in terms of Section 32, Subsection 4, Sentence 1, Number 2, d, EStG, or cannot enrol in or continue vocational training due to a lack of training position (Section 32, Subsection 4, Number 2, EStG); or
- beyond the age limit, if the child is unable to provide for him-/herself due to a physical, mental or psychological disability occurring before the age of 25 (Section 32, Subsection 4, Number 3, EStG).

Child allowance totals Euro 184 for each of the first two children, Euro 190 for the third child and Euro 215 for each additional child.

Parental allowance

Parental allowance is paid to the mother and/or father, provided the parents live with their child in a single household and care for and raise their child themselves. The parent receiving a parental allowance can work part-time up to 30 hours per week (Section 1, Subsections 1 and 6, BEEG). Parental allowance can be paid until the child is 14 months old.

Spouses or partners caring for the child (even if the child is not theirs) can also receive a parental allowance under the same conditions. This also applies to third-degree relatives in the event the parents cannot care for their child themselves due to hardship (illness, disability or death of parents; Section 1, Subsection 4, BEEG).

Parental allowance can also be paid for up to 14 months for adopted children and for the purpose of adopting a child (Section 1, Subsection 3, BEEG). This 14-month period begins when the child is adopted into the household, and eligibility ends when the child reaches 8 years of age. A parent must claim a parental allowance for at least two months (minimum claiming period) and can claim it for a maximum of 12 months. Both parents generally have joint claim to a total of 12 monthly payments for which each are eligible for the child's first months. Parents can claim two additional monthly payments if both are claiming parental allowance and their income is reduced for at least two months while receiving the allowance (partner months). Single parents can receive a parental allowance as replacement income for up to 14 months by

themselves (cf. for all of this, Section 4, Subsections 2 and 3, BEEG).

Parental allowance generally replenishes 67% of lost net adjusted income (Section 2, Subsection 1, BEEG). For net income exceeding Euro 1,200 before childbirth, the replenishment rate gradually falls to 65%. For lowincome parents, the replenishment rate can be up to 100%. Parental allowance totals at the most Euro 1,800 per month. Unemployed parents receive a minimum amount of Euro 300 (Section 2, Subsection 4 BEEG). Families with multiple young children can receive a sibling bonus of 10% (but at least Euro 75 per month) of the entitled parental allowance (Section 2a, Subsection 1, BEEG).

Minimum residence period

The required minimum residence period for claiming parental allowance and child allowance by third-country nationals is described under "Migration-specific requirements".

Minimum contribution period

For claiming parental allowance and child allowance, no minimum contribution periods are required.

Migration-specific requirements

Third-country nationals can only claim child allowance (Section 62, Subsection 2, Number 1 and 2, EStG) and parental allowance (Section 1, Subsection 7, Number 1 and 2, BEEG) if they:

- have a settlement permit; or
- have a residence permit allowing employment, unless they
 - a) are residing in Germany for educational purposes under Section 16 or Section 17 AufenthG;
 or
 - are residing in Germany for employment purposes under Section 18, Subsection 2, AufenthG and the consent of the Federal Employment
 Agency can only be granted for a certain maximum period according to the Employment
 Ordinance (BeschV); or
 - c) have been issued a residence permit pursuant to Section 23, Subsection 1, AufenthG due to

war in their country of origin or under Sections 23a, 24, 25, Subsections 3 to 5, AufenthG (counter-exception in Section 1, Subsection 7, Number 3, BEEG/Section 62, Subsection 2, Number 3, EStG).

Accordingly, third-country nationals who have been issued a temporary residence permit that cannot be extended cannot claim family benefits (e.g., au pairs [Section 12, BeschV], seasonal workers [Section 15a, BeschV], and carnies' assistants [Section 15b, BeschV]). Both child and parental allowances are a public benefit considered to be income in terms of Section 2, Subsection 3, AufenthG, that may be used to secure a livelihood (Section 2, Subsection 3, Sentence 2, AufenthG). Consequently, claiming this benefit will not affect the right of residence negatively (Frings 2008: recital 238 and recital 262).

Portability

German child allowance and parental allowance fall within the factual scope of application of the Regulation (EC) No. 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council for the coordination of social security schemes to employed persons and their families moving within the Community. Both, child and parental allowance are family benefits in terms of Article 4, Subsection 1, Letter h, of the Regulation, therefore citizens of the Union can also be entitled to a child allowance in Germany for their children who are living in another EU/EEA-State or Switzerland.

Turkish nationals

Turkish nationals and their family members can claim parental allowance under the same requirements as Germans, provided the relevant association agreement with the EEC can be applied.

3.5 Unemployment benefits

3.5.1 Unemployment benefits

General requirements

Employees can claim unemployment benefits I if they:

- are unemployed; and
- are registered as unemployed with the proper employment agency; and

- are available for work placement (i.e., able and willing to accept any reasonable employment) and are themselves actively attempting to end their unemployment; and
- have completed the qualifying period (see Section 137, Subsection 1, and Section 138, Subsection 1, SGB III).

Those, who have had employment subject to social insurance contributions for at least 12 months during the last two years before registering as unemployed, have completed the qualifying period (Section 142, Subsection 1, SGB III).

The amount of unemployment benefits totals: 60% of compounded net income (Section 149, Number 2, SGB III)

67% for those eligible with at least one child (Section 149, Number 1, SGB III).

The maximum period during which unemployment benefits I can be claimed is based on the following scheme (Section 147, Subsection 2, SGB III):

Table 2: Claim period for ALG I

According to mandatory insurance status with a total duration of at least months	And after reaching the age of	months
12		6
16		8
20		10
24		12
30	50	15
36	55	18
48	58	24

Minimum residence period

A minimum residence period results from the general claim requirements (please see above).

Minimum contribution period

A minimum contribution period results from the general claim requirements (see table above) that are the same for Germans and foreigners. The qualifying period requirement means that most seasonal workers cannot claim unemployment benefits despite making contributions to unemployment insurance (Frings 2008: recital 148).

Migration-specific requirements

Unemployment benefits under SGB III generally require availability on the German labour market (see "General requirements" above). Foreigners who no longer have a work permit and cannot receive such a permit, cannot claim benefits if they become unemployed. Availability also does not exist once a person no longer resides in Germany (Frings 2008: recital 151 and 152).

Explanations for selected residence titles:

- Third-country nationals with a residence permit for specific employment under Section 18, AufenthG, can claim unemployment benefits once that employment has ended, whether through expiration of a temporary contract or termination of an existing employment relationship, if a required period of previous employment has been fulfilled. However, the residence permit is usually voided under Section 12, Subsection 2, AufenthG, if it was issued based on existing employment, or if it expires. Claims to unemployment benefits under SGB III are then invalid due to a lack of availability on the labour market, even if the foreigners remain in Germany (Frings 2008: recital 413).
- Third-country nationals with a residence title for research (Section 20, AufenthG): Claims for unemployment benefits cannot be made with a residence permit for research, since the researchers are not available to the labour market due to the restricted work permit (Section 20, Subsection 4, AufenthG). Only once another residence permit is issued, e.g., through marriage (Sections 28, 30, AufenthG), claims can be asserted on the contributions made during research (Frings 2008: recital 422).

Portability

Since 1 June 2003, Regulation 859/2003 in conjunction with Article 69, Regulation 1408/71, states that claims for unemployment benefits by third-country nationals can be taken to another EU Member State for a period of three months in order to seek employment.

3.5.2 Basic security benefits for employment seekers (unemployment benefits II/social security allowance)

Basic security benefits for employment seekers is a demand-oriented and needs-based social welfare benefit whose amount is set at social benefits level and ensures a sociocultural minimum living income.

Basic security benefits for employment seekers take a household-based approach. This means that, aside from the person eligible for benefits who is able to work, family members who cannot work and are dependent upon this person, receive benefits in the form of a social security allowance as needed in order to secure a livelihood.

General requirements

The basic requirements for claiming unemployment benefits II are, according to Section 7, Subsection 1, SGB II:

- Age 15 to age limit (between 65 and 67, Section 7a, SGB II)
- Ability to work in terms of Section 8, Subsection 1, SGB II.
 - As persons able to work, the provisions consider everyone who is not, for reasons of illness or temporary disability prevented from working at least three hours per day under ordinary general labour market conditions for the foreseeable future.
- In need in terms of Section 9, SGB II.
 - → Persons who cannot or cannot sufficiently secure a livelihood with eligible income or wealth and cannot receive the necessary help from others, specifically family members or other social security benefit providers, are considered in need. The latter can be the case if there is a claim to unemployment benefits, but which is below the sociocultural subsistence level; i.e., if the amount of unemployment benefits I plus child allowance and other income from dependents is less than required according to SGB II and any existing wealth is below the exemption limit according to Section 12, SGB II, supplemental benefits can be claimed under SGB II (Frings 2008: recital 148).

The usual residence must be in the Federal Territory.

On the one hand, the necessary livelihood is provided according to nationally standardized average needs (SGB II)/[standardised needs levels] (SGB XII); on the other hand, allowances for housing and heating are provided at the amount of the actual expenditures, provided they are reasonable. The authoritative normal requirement covers the costs of food, clothing, personal hygiene, furniture, household energy exclusive of the portions which are allotted to heating and the generation of domestic hot water and personal daily needs in a lump sum. Additional needs (pregnancy, single parent, etc.) and other specific benefits can also be met/provided. Securing a specific sociocultural minimum living wage for children, youths and young adults was reformed on 1 January 2011 (known as the education and participation package). This included in particular requirements for school excursions and field trips, school supplies, student development, collective lunches, sports, culture and recreation as well as, under certain conditions, support for learning.

Basic security benefits for employment seekers are generally provided indefinitely, provided the claim requirements are met. However, approval is usually only given for six-month periods, after which the claim must be substantiated again.

As part of the basic security benefits for employment seekers, the contributions to statutory health and nursing insurance are covered by the Federal Budget (Section 251, Subsection 4, SGB V).

Minimum residence period

Foreigners, who are neither employed nor self-employed, and their family members cannot receive any benefits according to SGB II for the first three months of their residence (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 1, SGB II). Even after the first three months they do not necessarily have a claim for social benefits according SGB II.

Foreigners, whose right to residence is solely for the purpose of seeking employment, and their family members cannot, as a basic principle, claim any social benefits according to SGB II even after the first three months of their residence.

Minimum contribution period

Claiming unemployment benefits II/social security allowance is not contingent upon minimum contribution periods.

Migration-specific requirements

For claiming unemployment benefits II, it is required that the applicant is able to work (see "General requirements" above).

Foreigners are only able to work if they are permitted or can obtain permission to do so. The legal possibility to assuming employment subject to consent under Section 39, AufenthG is sufficient (Section 8, Subsection 2, SGB II).

Foreigners' ability to work is therefore not only determined by physical ability (under Section 8, Subsection 1, SGB II, same as for Germans), but also by legal permission (under Section 8, Subsection 2, SGB II; Blüggel 2013: 53).

According to Section 8, Subsection 2, Sentence 2 SGB II, the abstract general possibility of obtaining a work permit is sufficient (Fahlbusch 2013: 12), i.e., possessing a work permit is not required in order to claim unemployment benefits II. Third-country nationals with subordinate labour market access are thus able to work in terms of SGB II (Fahlbusch 2013: 12). This is not contingent upon the possibility of obtaining a work permit with regard to the labour market situation.

Ultimately, only tourists and foreigners explicitly prohibited from employment by immigration law are unable to work in terms of SGB II (Fahlbusch 2013: 12). Additionally, Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 1-3, SGB II, provides three reasons for which foreigners can be excluded from claiming benefits under SGB II. Three groups of persons cannot receive any benefits:

- Foreigners neither employed nor self-employed and their family members cannot receive any benefits under SGB II for the first three months of their residence (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 1, SGB II).
- Foreigners whose right of residence stems exclusively from the purpose of seeking employment

- and their family members (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 2 SGB II);
- Those eligible for benefits under Section 1, AsylbLG (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 3 SGB II).

In practice, exclusion under Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 2, SGB II, only pertains to newly arriving members of the original and new EU Member States "seeking employment" who have no other right of residence, e.g., as a family member, employee, self-employed person, etc. and who are also not considered "eligible to remain" because they have already worked here. Exclusion also theoretically pertains to graduates from countries outside the EU with a residence permit for seeking employment (Section 16, Subsection 4, AufenthG). Nevertheless, these individuals must show a secured livelihood in order to obtain a residence permit. Students who have finished their studies are allowed to assume employment during a job-seeking period.

Consequences of claiming unemployment benefits II

Claiming benefits under SGB II is not grounds for discretionary expulsion under Section 55, AufenthG. However, it usually conflicts with having a residence permit renewed, because the foreigner's livelihood is not secured (Section 5, Subsection 1, in conjunction with Section 2, Subsection 3, AufenthG). Exceptions to this can include family members of German nationals, spouses and partners of foreigners according to Section 30, Subsection 1 AufenthG, a child born in the Federal Territory and young returners (Frings 2008: recital 181).

Portability

Claiming unemployment benefits II requires the applicant's usual residence to be in the Federal Territory (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 1, Number 4, SGB II). The usual residence under Section 30, Subsection 3, Sentence 2, SGB II, is where a person resides under circumstances that indicate that the residence in this location or area is not just temporary. A function of the criterion "usual residence in Germany" is the limitation of eligibility for benefits to the territory of the Federal Republic of Germany. This regulation corresponds to Section 24, SGB XII, which excludes Germans living abroad from claiming benefits (Brandmayer 2013: 5 and 7).

Turkish nationals

Beside Germany and 17 other States, Turkey is a member of the European Convention on Social and Medical Assistance (ECSMA) as of 11 December 1953 (BGBl. 1956 II, pp. 563, 564), by which the contracting parties undertake to ensure that nationals of the other contracting parties who are lawfully present in its territory, and who are without sufficient resources, shall be entitled equally with its own nationals to social and medical assistance (Article 1 ECSMA). In December 2011, Germany made a reservation in accordance with Article 16, Letter b, Sentence 2 ECSMA which concerns, inter alia, benefits according to SGB II so that the claim to equal treatment under Article 1 ECSMA does not apply to these. The exclusion of Section 7, Subsection 1, Number 1 SGB II does not apply to the subsequent immigration of third-country nationals who are joining German nationals (Judgment of the Federal Social Court of 30 January 2013, reference number B 4 AS 37/12 R) so that the exclusion from claiming benefits under SGB II during the first three months of residence (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 1, SGB II) cannot be applied to Turkish family members of German nationals who were issued a residence permit under Section 28. AufenthG.

3.6 Minimum income for those unable to work

Social benefits

Those residing in Germany who cannot secure a livelihood by their own means (income and wealth) or ability (through labour) or help from a third party can claim social subsistence benefits (Section 27, SGB XII).

Social welfare law is divided into seven areas, each regulating benefits in certain circumstances. The benefits cited here are part of a tax-financed system of demand-oriented and needs-based benefits to secure a decent existence for those in need who are unable to work and cannot obtain sufficient or any income in order to cover the needs of their family (household community, and committed union, respectively), or cannot obtain the necessary help from others. In particular, persons who have not yet reached the age which corresponds to the standard retirement age under the statutory retirement pension scheme (for those born between 1947 and 1964, the retirement age has been raised from 65 to 67), who cannot secure

their own livelihood and are temporarily unable to work, receive benefits to aid in subsistence. Persons who have reached the standard retirement age, as well as persons aged 18 to the age which corresponds with the standard retirement age, who are fully disabled for medical reasons receive basic security benefits in old age and for reduced earning capacity. Persons in need who are able to work do not receive any subsistence benefits under the social assistance scheme; they can, however, apply for basic security benefits for employment seekers (unemployment benefits II/social security allowance, see above).

Every member of an eligible household can apply for social welfare individually. The resulting total amount increases in correspondence to the number of persons in need living in the same household. The income and wealth of the person in question and their cohabitating spouse or partner are included in the calculation of benefits.

The generalized social subsistence benefits – so-called standardized needs – are established according to federal law on the basis of empirically obtained average spending for consumption and, regarding adults, are deducted on their position within their household. Regarding minors, they are differentiated according to the minor's age (thereby, six standardized needs levels are established). For 2014, the following standardized needs levels are applicable nation-wide:

- normal requirement for solitary persons or single parents (standardized needs level 1): Euro 391;
- if living together, normal requirement for each spouse or partner: Euro 353 (standardized needs level 2);
- for an adult not living alone nor with a spouse, partner or in a cohabitation: Euro 313 (standardized needs level 3);
- for an adolescent starting at the age of 15 up to reaching the age of 18: 296 Euro (standardized needs level 4);
- for children starting at the age of 7 up to reaching the age of 14: 261 Euro (standardized needs level 5);
- for children up to reaching the age of 6: 229 Euro (standardized needs level 6).

The standardized needs levels are supplemented by:

- additional requirements for specific life situations (e.g., single parents, pregnant women, persons with additional nutritional requirements due to certain illnesses);
- one-time benefits not included in the compounded standard rate, such as to purchase a wardrobe, including during pregnancy and after childbirth, as well as to set up an apartment, including appliances;
- education and participation package for children and youths, in particular requirements for school excursions and field trips, school supplies, student development, collective lunches, sports, culture and recreation as well as, under certain conditions, learning development.

Minimum residence period

For claiming social benefits, no minimum residence period is required.

Minimum contribution period

For claiming social benefits, no minimum contribution period is required.

Migration-specific requirements

Foreigners actually residing in Germany must be given aid for subsistence, illness, pregnancy and motherhood, as well as nursing aid (Section 23, Subsection 1, Sentence 1, SGB XII). Foreigners have a legal right to the cited benefits.

Foreigners with a definite or indefinite residence title "who will presumably reside in the Federal Territory permanently" also have the same claim to all benefits under SGB XII as Germans (Section 23, Subsection 1, Sentence 4, SGB XII).

Foreigners with a presumably temporary right of residence (possibly with a residence title under Section 18, AufenthG) receive benefits under Chapters 6, 8 and 9 of SGB XII (i.e., integration assistance for the disabled, assistance in overcoming special social difficulties, and aid in other circumstances) as discretionary benefits only (Section 23, Subsection 1, Sentence 3, SGB XII). Foreigners whose right of residence is solely for the purpose of seeking employment have no claim to social benefits (Section 23, Subsection 3, SGB XII). Foreigners entering to obtain social benefits also have no

claim to social benefits (Section 23, Subsection 3, SGB XII). However, even in such instances, granting social benefits as a discretionary benefit must be reviewed according to the constitutional interpretation of the right to benefits (Article 1, GG). This is also necessary with regard to the equal treatment of those eligible under the AsylbLG, who in such instances can at least claim the irrefutable benefits under Section 1a AsylbLG (Frings 2008: recital 214). In case law, persons in need are in parts accorded a right to receive emergency supply, even if they entered solely for the aforementioned purposes. Emergency supply comprises travel costs and provisions for return; in individual cases, subsistence benefits are accorded in cases in which return is unacceptable. The right to receive emergency supply according to SGB XII, also, requires that the foreigners in question are unable to work, or are beyond the age of 65, respectively, so that, according to Section 21 SGB XII, the benefits scheme of SGB II does not apply to them. SGB XII is not intended to absorb all those persons to whom the exemption of benefits under SGB II applies. The legal position is different in case health support according to SGB XII is needed, as such benefits are not covered by the exemption clause of Section 21 SGB XII. Hence, foreigners to whom the exemption clause of Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, SGB II applies, and who are not health insured, can receive medical emergency support.

Consequences of claiming social benefits

Claiming social benefits for oneself as well as for family members is grounds for discretionary expulsion pursuant to Section 55, Subsection 2, Number 6, AufenthG, upon which the Foreigners Authority has to decide. Family members claiming benefits can only be taken into consideration if they do not possess their own, independent right of residence.

- Expulsion for claiming social welfare is excluded for:
- those with a settlement permit or an EU permit for permanent residence,
- foreigners with a residence permit who moved to Germany as minors or were born in Germany if they have been legally residing in Germany for five years,
- spouses and partners of Germans,
- minors.

For the remaining instances, the length of previous residence, family circumstances and possible obstacles to deportation must be taken into consideration when deciding on deportation (Section 55, Subsection 3, AufenthG).

Normally, a discretionary decision in favour of expulsion is only correct if the period of residence has not been long and there are no close family ties. However, claiming social benefits as grounds for deportation usually conflicts with renewing a residence permit (Frings 2008: recital 222).

Portability

Requirement for claiming social benefits is actual residence in the Federal Republic of Germany. Foreigners living abroad cannot receive aid (Groth 2013: 3).

Turkish nationals

The European Convention on Social and Medical Assistance (ECSMA) prohibits the deportation of Turkish nationals and their family members for claiming social welfare.

3.7 Coverage for self-employed

Persons with a residence permit for self-employment (Section 21, AufenthG) can usually only voluntarily insure themselves against illness. Mandatory membership in statutory health insurance for persons without insurance protection under Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 13, SGB V, is not considered for these individuals. They are exempted from the insurance requirement according to Section 5, Subsection 11, SGB V, because their residence title is contingent upon a secured livelihood.

Self-employed persons above the age of 45 must show that they have adequate retirement provisions upon entry.

Benefits under SGB II cannot be granted, since the residence permit for self-employment does not include a work permit. While it is generally possible to claim social benefits under SGB XII, doing so runs afoul of residence requirements. Under Section 7, Subsection 2, AufenthG, the residence permit can be made temporary after the fact or no longer renewed upon expiration.

The self-employed can claim child and parental allowances. This does not apply for accompanying spouses (Section 21, Subsection 3, AufenthG).

Foreigners with a (limited) resident permit for the purpose of self-employment, who will probably reside permanently in the Federal Territory, i.e. persons for whom, based on a prognostic assessment, one can assume that their residence status is stable according to Section 23, Subsection 1, Sentence 4, SGB XII, can claim integration assistance and other benefits in special circumstances under SGB XII; the restrictions under Section 23, Subsection 1, Sentence 1 SGB XII do not apply to this group of people.

3.8 Family unification

3.8.1 Family members of German nationals

The residence permit for family reasons allows unrestricted employment (Section 27, Subsection 5, AufenthG).

Social insurance benefits (health, pension and unemployment insurance) can be claimed in full (Frings 2008: recital 583).

Basic security benefits for employment seekers: benefits can generally be claimed under SGB II (for exceptions, see Section 7, Subsection 1 SGB II).

Family benefits: family members of German nationals can also claim all family benefits (Frings 2008: recital 583, 584).

3.8.2 Family members of foreigners

The residence permit for family reasons (families joining foreigners) allows unrestricted employment after the Act to Improve the Rights of Foreigners Eligible for Protection and Foreign Workers went into force (Section 27, Subsection 5, AufenthG). This was different before the law and contingent upon certain strict requirements.

Basic security income for employment seekers: benefits can be claimed under SGB II by third-country nationals who are family members of third-country nationals during the first three months of their stay,

provided that they are employees or self-employed; in all other cases, employment seekers are excluded from making claims according to Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, Number 1, SGB II. In general, the said exemption is not of big relevance for spouses of third-country nationals as for family reunification, they must provide evidence that livelihood is secured.

Family benefits: claims to family benefits depend on the work permit. Since family members of foreigners are authorised to work under Section 27, Subsection 5, AufenthG, family benefits can be claimed from the start.

3.9 Persons with settlement permits

The settlement permit and the EC long-term residence permit (EU permit for permanent residence after 1 December 2013) always include a work permit (Sections 9, Subsection 1, and 9a, Subsection 1, AufenthG).

Persons with a settlement permit are entitled to social security benefits to the same degree as Germans.

While it is still possible under Section 56, Subsection 1, Number 1, in conjunction with Section 55, AufenthG, to be deported in the first five years after receiving a settlement permit, it is only possible on serious grounds relating to public safety and order. Claiming benefits under SGB XII is not included here.

4 Administrative Practices for Third-Country Nationals Claiming Social Security Benefits

4.1 Discretionary criteria and deciding factors

Various discretionary criteria play a role in the administrative practice for third-country nationals claiming social security benefits, whereby these are usually clearly defined.

Primary residence in the Federal Territory

A person must reside or usually reside in the Federal Republic pursuant to Section 30, Subsection 1, SGB I (see also Chapter 3).

Entering Federal Territory with the intent of obtaining social benefits

If claiming social welfare is the reason for entry or if the right to residence is solely for the purpose of seeking employment, this benefit cannot be claimed under Section 23, Subsection 3, SGB XII. This also applies to family members. The restrictions implemented by Section 23, Subsection 3, SGB XII, generally apply to all types of social welfare (Classen 2013: 10).

Social benefits cannot be claimed in cases where the intent to claim was decisive for the decision to enter. The same applies if the decision to enter was based on various reasons and if the purpose to claim social benefits was at least formative for the decision to enter. Section 23, Subsection 3, SGB XII does, however, not apply if the goal of obtaining social welfare benefits is subordinate to other purposes. Furthermore, intent does not exist in cases where a person negligently appraised his or her need for help and the possibility to help him- or herself (Coseriu 2009: 9). If entry was not solely or primarily (intentionally) to obtain social benefits – and the residence permit status of the third-country national is stable, so that it can be expected

that he or she will reside permanently in Germany – he or she can claim social benefits under the same conditions as German citizens (Section 23, Subsection 4, SGB XII, see also Section 3.6).

Yet even if the intent behind entry was to obtain social benefits, it cannot simply be withheld, rather the decision must be made to pay out social benefits according to the constitutional interpretation of right to benefits (Article 1, GG; Frings 2008: 214). ¹⁶ Section 1, SGB XII, must be observed here, according to which social benefits is intended to provide a decent existence. This discretionary review is also made necessary by the required equal treatment of persons eligible for benefits under the AsylbLG, since this group can at least receive benefits under Section 1a, AsylbLG (Frings 2008: 214).

Case law entitles persons in need in part to obtain an emergency supply, even if they entered for the aforementioned reasons. The emergency supply covers travel costs and fares for the return to their country of origin. In particular cases, persons are entitled to benefits to cover their subsistence insofar as they are imperative for reasons such as unreasonableness of return. Such an entitlement to emergency supply for covering subsistence till departure can only be considered for foreigners who are either unable to work or older than 65 years (Section 21 SGB XII). The discretionary decision is based on the overall circumstances (e.g., family members eligible to remain such as children, children in need of care, family members

¹⁶ BVerwG of 14 March 1985, BVerwGE 71, 139; BVerwG of 10 December 1987, BVerwGE 78, 314; VG Ansbach of 31 August 2004, AN 15 E 04.01846; OVG Berlin, ruling of 22 April 2003, NDV-RD 2003, 77ff.; VGH Munich, ruling of 20 December 2004, 12 CE 04.3232.

in need of care, pregnant partners, fathers of children) and other factors (e.g., previous length of residence, temporary claiming of benefits, state of health, ability to travel, risks in country of origin; Classen 2008: 36-39; 2011: 8).

4.2 Guidelines and other supporting measures

When it comes to social security benefits for thirdcountry nationals, the various providers generally do not have any special aids or instructions exclusively addressing the topic of access by third-country nationals. Rather, information pertaining to this matter is found in the form of individual points in the general guidelines and operating instructions. An exception to this is the Federal Employment Agency, which, besides overviews assigning benefit claims under SGB II and XII to specific residence titles, provides manuals for its case officers and brochures in English, Russian and Turkish for applicants and beneficiaries of social security benefits. If necessary, documents provided by applicants are translated and interpretation is provided at the BA's expense. Staff members also receive training that addresses access to social security benefits by third-country nationals.

Important forms are usually provided in other languages. Interpreters are not employed nationwide, however certain facilities can be provided with supporting measures, such as interpreters, for a limited period of time as part of projects on intercultural openness.

4.3 Effects of claiming social security benefits on residence status

Expulsion/extension of residence title

Claiming social benefits is grounds for discretionary expulsion pursuant to Section 55, Subsection 2, Number 6, AufenthG, that must be decided at the discretion of the Foreigners Authorities; this only applies to family members claiming benefits if they do not have their own, independent right of residence (BVerwG of 28 September 2004, NVwZ 2005, 460 f.).

Under Section 87, Subsection 2, Number 3, AufenthG, (87.2.3.7.1 General Administrative Regulations for Residence Act – AVwV AufenthG), social welfare providers

are obliged to notify the proper Foreigners Authority of the existence of grounds for discretionary expulsion pursuant to Section 55, Subsection 2, Number 6, AufenthG, i.e., if a foreigner claims social benefits for him-/herself, his/her family members or for others in the household (Section 27, Subsection 3, Section 31 Subsection 2, Sentence 3, Section 35 Subsection 3, Number 3, AufenthG). This notification requirement does not apply if the claiming of social benefits is not relevant to residence law, e.g., for persons with a settlement permit (Winkelmann 2013: 22).

When making the discretionary decision, a review is also required of whether or not a less drastic course of action can be considered instead of expulsion, such as an official warning, reducing the duration of a residence title after the fact, not extending it, revoking it or rescinding it (Bauer 2013: 71). Expulsions for claiming social benefits are very rare; usually the course of action taken is not to extend the residence title (Classen 2013: 13).

Deportation solely for claiming social welfare is excluded for homeless foreigners and those with a settlement permit, as well as those with a residence permit whose extension is not contingent upon livelihood being secured (55.2.6.3.1.5 AVwV AufenthG). According to Section 56, Subsection 1, AufenthG, the following foreigners enjoy special protection from expulsion, i.e., they can only be deported on serious grounds relating to public safety and order: Persons who

- have a settlement permit and have been legally residing in the Federal Territory for at least five years,
- 2. have an EC long-term residence permit,
- have a residence permit and were born in the Federal Territory or entered the Federal Territory as a minor, and have been legally residing in the Federal Territory for at least five years,
- 4. have a residence permit, have been legally residing in the Federal Territory for at least five years, and live with a person described in No. 1 or 2 as a spouse or partner.

During the discretionary review, the reason for depending on social benefits, as well as the duration and amount of benefits must be taken into consideration.

Ongoing subsistence benefits due to self-inflicted need are rated differently than, e.g., temporary stockpiling payments or marginal, one-time assistance under special circumstances. In addition, exercising this discretion also requires a differentiation between those receiving help and family or household members: given otherwise equal requirements, only the expulsion of the person receiving aid is usually considered – unless that person is a minor (Bauer 2013: 56; BVerwG, ruling of 18 December 1984 – 1 C 19/81 – EZAR 223 No. 10).

Furthermore, under Section 55, Subsection 3, AufenthG, the length of previous residence, family ties and the requirements for excluding deportation listed in Section 60a, Subsections 2 and 2b, AufenthG, must be considered when making a discretionary decision (Bauer 2013: recital 74-77).

Claiming unemployment benefits II is not grounds for deportation. However, it is possible that the residence title will not be extended (see also Section 3.5.2).

Naturalisation

Third-country nationals must be able to secure their own livelihood as well as those of family members for whom they are responsible for providing (and meet other criteria listed in the Nationality Act – StAG) in order to be eligible for naturalisation. Naturalisation thus conflicts with claiming benefits under SGB II or SGB XII according to Section 10, Subsection 1, No. 3, StAG, or when a livelihood cannot be secured without resorting to these benefits.

Family unification

A residence permit for family unification can be denied if the person to whom the family is moving is claiming benefits under SGB II or SGB XII to provide for other family members or other household members (Section 27, Subsection 3, Sentence 1, AufenthG). 27.3.2 AVwV AufenthG specifies that these requirements are also met if there is a claim for benefits under SGB II or SGB XII without family unification. In this context, the general requirement for issuance under Section 5, Subsection 1, Number 1, AufenthG must be respected, which requires a residence title generally not to be issued if the livelihood of the family members moving to Germany is not secured (27.3.7 AVwV AufenthG; for a general discussion on family unification in Germany, see Kreienbrink/Rühl 2007). The crucial factor is not the actual claiming of benefits, rather

that the third-country national would have claim to these benefits (Dienelt 2013: recital 71).

However, family unification cannot be absolutely or typically denied, even if the person already residing in Germany is claiming social security benefits. Rather, denial falls within the discretion of the proper authorities; this ensures that Article 8, European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) and Article 6, GG, are taken into consideration. Above all, the circumstances listed in Section 55, Subsection 3, AufenthG, e.g., status and length of residence of a person already residing in Germany, must be reviewed when making the discretionary decision (Dienelt 2013: recital 73, 74).

What must also be reviewed is whether or not it can be assumed that the foreigner already residing in Germany will be sustainably able and willing to support after the unification persons living in the Federal Republic who have thus far subsisted on public benefits, thereby reducing the total amount of public benefits provided (27.3.4 AVwV AufenthG). If public expenditure can be reduced through family unification, this argues in favour of allowing the unification (Dienelt 2013: recital 74).

5 External Dimensions of Social Security

5.1 Bilateral agreements

The Federal Republic has concluded international social insurance agreements with various third countries designed to co-ordinate social security systems. Most of these agreements pertain to health insurance, accident insurance and pension insurance. There are both agreements covering multiple branches of social insurance as well as agreements only pertaining to one branch. Some agreements fully regulate the co-ordination of social security systems (a.k.a. comprehensive agreements). However, other agreements, only address

a partial aspect of co-ordination, such as posted workers (Petersen 2008: recital 1, 2). An overview of the agreements and their scopes can be found in Table 3.

An agreement on pension insurance was signed with Uruguay on 8 April 2013; however the agreement has not yet taken effect. Aside from this, the Federal Republic is currently undergoing negotiations regarding bilateral agreements with Algeria, Argentina, the Philippines and the Russian Federation (as of January 2014).

Table 3: Overview of bilateral agreements with third countries regarding social security

Country	In effect since	Scope*
Australia	01 January 2003	PI, Delegate agreement
Bosnia-Herzegovina	01 September 1969	HI, PI, AI, UV, CA
Brazil	01 May 2013	PI, AI
Chile	01 January 1994	PI
People's Republic of China	04 April 2002	Delegate agreement
India	01 October 2009	Delegate agreement**
Israel	01 May 1975	HI, PI, AI
Japan	01 February 2000	PI
Canada	01 April 1988	PI
Kosovo	01 September 1969	HI, PI, AI, UI, CA
Morocco	01 August 1986	HI, PI, AI
Macedonia	01 January 2005	HI, PI, AI
Montenegro	01 September 1969	HI, PI, AI, UI, CA
Republic of Korea	01 January 2003	PI
Serbia	01 September 1969	HI, PI, AI, UI, CA
Tunisia	01 August 1986	HI, PI, AI, CA
Turkey	01 November 1965	HI, PI, AI, CA
USA	01 December 1979	PI

Notes:

- * Social insurance agreements have different scopes, i.e., health (HI), pension (PI), accident (AI), unemployment insurance (UI) and child allowance (CA).
- ** Delegate agreements ensure that redundant insurance and thus redundant contributions are avoided for employees who are temporarily sent by their company to the other contract state.

5.2 Contents of bilateral agreements

Scope of social legislation in delegating countries

For the persons affected, the agreements mostly place stays in the other contract state or even abroad in general on equal footing with a stay in Germany (a.k.a. territorial equivalence). This also includes third-country nationals in the newer agreements. The territorial equivalence principle is one of the core principles in co-ordinating social insurance systems (Petersen 2008: recital 51-53).

The basic rule in the co-ordination of social security systems assumes that the insurance requirement is based on the law of the state in whose territory the employee or self-employed person is working (Petersen 2008: recital 59).

Moreover, the agreements entail which are referred to as delegate regulations; these take effect when a domestic employment relationship that was previously initiated, continues during residence in the contract state. The delegate regulations should ensure that the affected parties do not lose their domestic insurance protection while temporarily abroad. The regulations also attempt to counteract unfair competition by continuing to provide insurance protection. In most cases, this should be reached by temporarily limiting the continued applicability of domestic law when residing in the other contract state (Petersen 2008: recital 60).

Equal Treatment

Nearly all of the comprehensive agreements are designed to place nationals from the contracting state on an equal footing with the other contracting state's own nationals in the application of legal provisions falling under the agreement – provided they usually reside in one of the two contracting states (Petersen 2008: 40). Most of them – especially the newer agreements – stipulate that benefits to nationals of a contracting state must be provided in the same fashion as for its own nationals during stays in a third country (Petersen 2008: 41).

Equating the citizens of the other contracting state and other beneficiaries residing in-country with ones own is, however, not the primary purpose of the agreements, for this equivalence is already broadly realised by national German law. The actual additional value of the agreements with regard to equal treatment when providing benefits is when beneficiaries are residing abroad. However, national law still stipulates some restrictions in this respect (e.g., Section 97, SGB VII, with regard to accident insurance; Petersen 2008: recital 44, 45).

Equal treatment through the agreements also takes effect in the norms regulating access to domestic social security systems, provided these differ according to nationality. This is only the case for pension insurance when insurance is voluntarily taken out for stays abroad (Section 7, Subsection 1, Sentence 2, SGB VI). Usually, however, the agreements do not guarantee full equal treatment, rather they link voluntary access to pension insurance to a specific number of previous contributions (Petersen 2008: recital 46).

Exporting social security benefits

The agreements also co-ordinate the recognition of insurance periods as well as the preservation/maintenance of benefit claims obtained. If national claims to benefits require a specific duration of membership in an insurance system (qualifying period), insurance periods that can be credited toward benefits claims in the other contracting state are taken into consideration. Totalling the insured periods in order to be eligible to claim benefits is another primary principle of the agreements. For long-term benefits, this is the most important one, since they usually require longer qualifying periods. Crediting insurance periods is also effective for short-term benefits, as well as for obtaining insurance entitlements (Petersen 2008: recital 64). Migrant workers can also assert acquired claims if they have left the area of the state obliged to provide the benefits and are living in their country of origin (principle of maintaining acquired benefits claims; Petersen 2008: recital 87, see also Chapter 3).

Case Studies 39

6 Case Studies

In order to ensure comparability between the German welfare state and the situation in other EU Member States, the following fictional case studies show the possibilities third-country nationals have for claiming social security benefits, as well as the consequences on their residence status. The scenarios for the case studies were provided by the joint study specifications on which the study is based.

6.1 Case study 1

Tho will receive benefits in Germany from statutory unemployment insurance in the form of unemployment benefits (ALG). The amount of ALG will total 60% of his regular net income until his child is born, then ALG will increase to 67% of his regular net income. He can claim ALG for 12 months at the most. If ALG turns out to be so low that the total household income is below the sociocultural minimum living wage, Tho can apply for additional funding in the form of basic security benefits for employment seekers (unemployment benefits II/social security allowance). When indicated, Tho can receive housing allowances in addition to unemployment benefits, thereby avoiding having to make resort to the basic security income. The entitlement for housing allowances depends on the number of family members, the available income, and the costs of rent.

Tho and Lien, a married couple holding Vietnamese citizenship, aged 28 and 30, moved to your (Member) State 10 years ago. They hold long-term residence permits. Tho has worked in a car manufacturing company for the last 8 years, paying obligatory insurance contributions throughout this time. Lien has worked as a chef in the restaurant of a large hotel, also paying obligatory insurance contributions, for the last 2 years. Tho and Lien are expecting the birth of their first child in 6 weeks' time. Last week, the car manufacturing company where Tho works announced that they were making him redundant. Faced with the loss of Tho's income at a time when

Lien would need to take time off work, following the birth of their child, Tho decided to apply for unemployment benefits while Lien applied for maternity benefits.

In addition, Tho can apply for parental allowance. Tho can decide to initially receive parental allowance to compensate for the loss of income, and only subsequently claim unemployment benefits, in order to avoid that the latter is credited against parental allowances.

Insofar as Tho claims unemployment benefits II in addition to parental allowance, due to his occupation prior to birth, according to Section 10, Subsection 2 BEEG, parental allowance will not be credited against unemployment benefits in the amount of the parental allowance exemption, to a maximum of Euro 300 per month. In sum, Tho can claim the parental allowance exemption in addition to unemployment benefits II.

With the birth of their child, the parents will receive a child allowance of Euro 184 per month until the child is 18 years old, or until the child is 25 years old if he/she will still be going to school, graduates, or spends a year in voluntary social or environmental conservation service, or in the federal volunteer service. Parents of disabled children continue to receive a child allowance even after the child's 25th birthday. At the same time, the change in size of the household also changes the level calculated as the sociocultural minimum living wage, so that once the child is born, another review will have to be made regarding the extent to which basic security benefits for employment seekers/subsistence aid can be claimed.

Lien will receive a maternity allowance for the first eight weeks after childbirth that matches her previous pay. Of that, Euro 13 are provided by the health insurance, with the difference being paid by her employer. If Lien claims maternity leave, she will receive between 65% and 100% of her net income – at least Euro 300 and at the most Euro 1,800 – as her parental allowance

40 Case Studies

for the next 12 months.¹⁷ Since both have an EC long-term residence permit that is tantamount to a set-tlement permit, claiming social security benefits will have no consequences to their residence status.

6.2 Case study 2

It is assumed that Jasmine has a residence permit for employment purposes pursuant to Section 18, AufenthG, therefore Jasmine can claim a child allowance for her child living in Germany and, upon filing, receives Euro 184 per month from the family benefits office of the proper employment agency for her child in Germany. She cannot receive a child allowance for the child living in the Philippines. Furthermore, she can supplement her income with additional unemployment benefits II/social security allowances if the income, along with any existing wealth, is insufficient in securing the livelihood of herself and her child. If necessary, Jasmine can receive housing allowances supplementary to unemployment benefits thereby avoiding having to make recourse to unemployment benefits II/social security allowances. The entitlement for housing allowances depends on the number of family members, the available income, and the costs of rent.

Jasmine is a single parent, aged 29, holding Filipino citizenship, who moved to your (Member) State two and a half years ago. She has a 2-year old child (also holding Filipino citizenship) that lives with her and another child aged five that lives in the Philippines with Jasmine's mother. She holds a temporary/salaried worker residence permit that has been renewed once. Jasmine has worked as a nurse in a residential day-care unit in your (Member) State for two and a half years. She sends a small amount of money every month to the Philippines to help support her daughter. Last month, Jasmine's employer announced significant cuts in staff salaries in response to budget reductions. Faced with a significantly reduced income, Jasmine has moved into a hostel as she can no

longer afford to rent private accommodation. She has also been forced to halve the amount of money she sends to her family in the Philippines every month. She has decided to apply for family benefits and guaranteed minimum resources.

Additionally, claiming unemployment benefits with a temporary residence title as in the case above can have consequences on one's residence status. Just as with its issuance, the extension of the residence permit is contingent upon livelihood being secured, which – except for child and parental allowances – is not the case if tax-financed social security benefits such as those under SGB II and XII are claimed (Section 5, Subsection 1, Sentence 1, Number 1, in conjunction with Section 2, Subsection 3, Sentences 1 and 2, AufenthG; see also Chapter 3.5.2).

6.3 Case study 3

It is assumed that Senghor has since been issued a (permanent) settlement permit according to Section 9 or Section 19, AufenthG. It is also assumed that Senghor's mother was issued a residence permit for hardship according to Section 36, Subsection 2, AufenthG. Claiming social security benefits unfolds as follows for Senghor: once a physician determines he is unable to work due to an on-the-job accident, he will receive an injury benefit from accident insurance totalling 80% of his previous gross income, however not greater than his previous net income, until such a time as is determined that he is permanently unable to work, but at the most for 78 weeks. In the event that his ability to work is reduced by 20% or more over 26 weeks after the insurance case has occurred, he can claim a disability pension. If he is completely unable to work, Senghor will receive an annuity totalling two-thirds of his annual pay. With a reduced ability to work of more than 20%, he will receive a percentage of a full pension corresponding to the severity of his reduced earning capacity.

Senghor is a high-skilled worker from Senegal. He arrived in your (Member) State six years ago with a temporary residence permit arranged through the IT company that employed him. Senghor is single and does not have children, but has recently succeeded in bringing his elderly mother to the country on the basis of family reunification. Aged 80, his mother is

¹⁷ Since Lien would have less money to spend in case she received parental allowances than if she continued her full-time job, while Tho could step in to care for the child without loss of income due to his unemployment, it can be advisable that in such constellations, the working parent does not seek parental allowance.

Case Studies 41

entirely dependent on Senghor's income. Last week, Senghor suffered an accident at work that left him incapable of carrying out the work for which he was employed for a period of 3 years. He decided to apply for invalidity benefits, sickness benefits, family benefits and benefits in respect of accidents at work and occupational diseases.

A sickness allowance will not be provided in this instance, since his accident insurance will provide an injury benefit instead; family assistance payments will only be provided in Germany upon the death of the policyholder and only if there is no survivors' annuity (Section 63, Subsection 1, Number 4 in conjunction with Section 71, SGB VII). This is not the case here.

There will be no consequences to Senghor's residence status, since his settlement permit does not have to be renewed. The situation for Senghor's mother, however, is different if the household income available to Senghor and his mother after the loss of income is below the sociocultural minimum living wage and she therefore files for basic social benefits for cases of age or reduced earning capacity. In this instance, she may face discretionary expulsion by the proper Foreigners Authority for claiming social benefits. In practice, however, this kind of situation will likely not result in deportation; rather her residence permit would not be renewed. However, consequently, it would have to be reviewed whether or not her residence could actually be terminated given her advanced age and the hardship previously acknowledged. If necessary, Senghor can receive housing allowances in addition to sickness benefits, and disability pension, respectively, thereby avoiding having to make recourse to her basic social benefits. The entitlement for housing allowances depends on the number of family members, the available income, and the costs of rent.

42 Conclusion

7 Conclusion

Social security in Germany is ensured by a welfare state that has developed over time. Its central social security systems are contribution-financed statutory social insurance and a tax-financed social welfare system, with statutory social insurance taking precedence. This, however, requires continuous full-time employment interrupted only by temporary periods of claiming benefits. The following applies for the area of social insurance: the more employees earn, the better they are protected by statutory social insurance. Since the protection provided depends on employment, persons in atypical employment relationships are less well protected by the insurance system. In contrast to statutory social insurance, the social welfare systems financed by general tax revenue ensure the sociocultural minimum living wage. Only individual need, and not the duration of previous employment, is decisive for claiming these social security benefits.

Statutory social insurance does not differentiate between third-country nationals, EU citizens and German nationals; rather it offers them the most equal access to social security benefits possible.

Referring to third-country nationals covered in this study, claiming basic security benefits for employment seekers can be problematic for persons with temporary residence titles looking to have it renewed. Also, claiming social benefits has consequences for one's residence status, since this constitutes grounds for discretionary expulsion – although in most cases, the residence title will not be renewed instead.

It can be supposed that this promotes the willingness to take less favourable job offers, since the looming dependence on basic security benefits can not only have economic, but also residential consequences. Persons with a settlement permit, on the other hand, face no consequences to residence whatsoever for claiming social security benefits.

References 43

References

- **Bäcker, Gerhard/Eichhorst, Werner/Gerlach, Irene/Gerlinger, Thomas** (2013): Rückblick auf die Entwicklung der Sozialpolitik im Jahr 2012, in: Zeitschrift für Sozialreform, 59(1), 3-33.
- Bauer, Ina (2013): § 55 AufenthG, in: Renner, Günther; Bergmann, Jan; Dienelt, Klaus (eds.): Ausländerrecht. Kommentar, München: C.H. Beck, 966-993.
- Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, Flüchtlinge und Integration (2012): 9. Bericht der Beauftragten der Bundesregierung für Migration, Flüchtlinge und Integration über die Lage der Ausländerinnen und Ausländer in Deutschland, Berlin: Beauftragte der Bundesregierung für Migration, Flüchtlinge und Integration.
- **Blüggel, Jens** (2013): § 8, in: Eicher, Wolfgang (ed.): SGB II. Grundsicherung für Arbeitssuchende, München: C.H. Beck, 290-309.
- **Boeckh, Jürgen/Huster, Ernst-Ulrich/Benz, Benjamin** (2006): Sozialpolitik in Deutschland. Eine systematische Einführung, Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.
- **Bonoli, GIULIANO** (1997): Classifying Welfare States: a Two-dimension Approach, in: Journal of Social Policy, 26(03), 351-372.
- **Brandmayer, Simone** (2013): SGB II § 7, in: Rolfs, Christian; Giesen, Richard; Kreikebohm, Ralf; Udsching, Peter (eds.): Beck'scher Online-Kommentar Sozialrecht, München: C.H. Beck.
- **Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales** (2013): Soziale Sicherung im Überblick 2013, Berlin: Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales.
- Bundesregierung (2007): Der Nationale Integrationsplan. Neue Wege Neue Chancen, Berlin: Bundesregierung.
- **Bundesregierung** (2012): Nationaler Aktionsplan Integration. Zusammenhalt stärken Teihabe verwirklichen, Berlin: Bundesregierung.
- CDU/CSU/SPD (2013): Deutschlands Zukunft gestalten. Koalitionsvertrag zwischen CDU, CSU und SPD. 18. Legislaturperiode.
- **Classen, Georg** (2008): Sozialleistungen für MigrantInnen und Flüchtlinge. Handbuch für die Praxis, Karlsruhe: von Loeper Literaturverlag.
- Classen, Georg (2011): ALG II und Sozialhilfe für Ausländer. Online unter: http://www.fluechtlingsinfo-berlin.de/fr/pdf/Eckpunkte SGB II XII Auslander.pdf
- Classen, Georg (2013): Leitfaden ALG II und Sozialhilfe für Ausländer. Online unter: http://www.fluechtlingsinfoberlin.de/fr/pdf/SGB-II-XII-Leitfaden.pdf
- Coseriu, Pablo (2009): § 23 SGB XII, in: Kreikebohm, Ralf; Spellbrink, Wolfgang; Waltermann, Raimund (eds.): Kommentar zum Sozialrecht, München: C.H. Beck, 2339-2400.
- Deutsche Rentenversicherung (2013): Rentenversicherung in Zahlen 2013, Berlin: Deutsche Rentenversicherung.

44 References

Dienelt, Klaus (2013): § 27 AufenthG, in: Renner, Günther; Bergmann, Jan; Dienelt, Klaus (eds.): Ausländerrecht. Kommentar, München: C.H. Beck, 539-570.

- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1990): The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- **Fahlbusch, Jonathan Imre** (2013): SGB II § 8, in: Rolfs, Christian; Giesen, Richard; Kreikebohm, Ralf; Udsching, Peter (eds.): Beck'scher Onlinekommentar Sozialrecht, München: C.H. Beck.
- **Fehmel, Thilo** (2012): Welfare state convergence in Europe. On the structural approximation of Europen social security systems, in: European Journal of Transnational Studies, 4(2), 54-80.
- Flora, Peter/Heidenheimer, Arnold (1998): The Historical Core and Changing Boundaries of the Welfare State, in: Peter Flora; Arnold Heidenheimer (eds.): The Development of Welfare States in Europe and America, New Brunswick: Transaction, 17-34.
- Frings, Dorothee (2008): Sozialrecht für Zuwanderer, Baden-Baden: Nomos. Groth, Andy: SGB XII § 23, in: Rolfs, Christian; Giesen, Richard; Kreikebohm, Ralf; Udsching, Peter (eds.): Beck'scher Online-Kommentar Sozialrecht, München: C.H. Beck.
- Just, Katrin (2012): § 5, in: Becker, Ulrich; Kingreen, Thorsten (eds.): SGB V. Gesetzliche Krankenversicherung, Münch en: C.H. Beck, 36-58.
- **Kaufmann, Franz-Xaver** (2001): Social Security, in: Neil J. Smelser; Paul B. Baltes (eds.): International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, Oxford: Pergamon, 14435-14439.
- Kohls, Martin (2012): Pflegebedürftigkeit und Nachfrage nach Pflegeleistungen von Migrantinnen und Migranten im demographischen Wandel. Forschungsbericht 12, Nürnberg: Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge.
- KOM Europäische Kommission (2012): Ihre Rechte der sozialen Sicherheit in Deutschland, Brüssel: KOM.
- Kreienbrink, Axel/Rühl, Stefan (2007): Familiennachzug in Deutschland. Kleinstudie IV im Rahmen des Europäischen Migrationsnetzwerks. Working Paper 10, Nürnberg: BAMF.
- Müller, Andreas (2013): Die Organisation der Aufnahme und Unterbringung von Asylbewerbern in Deutschland. Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN), Nürnberg.
- **Petersen, Ulrich** (2008): § 32, in: von Maydell, Bernd Baron von; Ruland, Franz; Becker, Ulrich (eds.): Sozialrechtshandbuch (SRH),Baden-Baden: Nomos, 1431-1449.
- Vobruba, Georg (1983): Politik mit dem Wohlfahrtsstaat, Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.
- Vobruba, Georg (1990): Lohnarbeitszentrierte Sozialpolitik in der Krise der Lohnarbeit, in: Vobruba, Georg (ed.): Strukturwandel der Sozialpolitik. Lohnarbeitszentrierte Sozialpolitik und soziale Grundsicherung, Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp, 11-80.
- Weir, Margaret (2001): Welfare State, in: Neil J. Smelser; Paul B. Baltes (eds.): International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, Oxford: Pergamon, 16432-16435.
- Winkelmann, Holger (2013): § 87 AufenthG, in: Renner, Günther; Bergmann, Jan; Dienelt, Klaus (eds.): Ausländerrecht. Kommentar, München: C.H. Beck, 1415-1436.

Abbreviations 45

Abbrevations

AsylbLG

ALG Arbeitslosengeld (Unemployment Benefits)

Asylbewerberleistungsgesetz (Asylum Seekers Benefits Act)

AufenthG Aufenthaltsgesetz (Residence Act)

AVwV AufenthG Allgemeine Verwaltungsvorschrift zum Aufenthaltsgesetz

(General Administrative Regulations for Residence Act)

BA Bundesagentur für Arbeit (Federal Employment Agency)

BEEG Bundeselterngeld- und Elternzeitgesetz

(Federal Parental Allowance and Parental Leave Act)

BeschV Beschäftigungsverordnung (Employment Ordinance)
BKGG Bundeskindergeldgesetz (Federal Child Allowance Act)

BMAS Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (Federal Ministry of Labour

and Social Affairs)

BVerwG Bundesverwaltungsgericht (Federal Administrative Court)
ECSMA European Convention on Social and Medical Assistance

EFTA European Free Trade Association

ECHR European Convention on Human Rights

EntgFG Entgeltfortzahlungsgesetz (Continuation of Remuneration Act)

EStG Einkommensteuergesetz (Income Tax Act)

GG Grundgesetz (Basic Law)

GKV Gesetzliche Krankenversicherung (Statutory Health Insurance)

MISSOC Mutual Information System on Social Protection

NAP-I National Action Plan - Integration

NIP National Integration Plan
SGB Sozialgesetzbuch (Social Code)
SGG Sozialgerichtsgesetz (Social Court Act)
StAG Staatsangehörigkeitsgesetz (Nationality Act)

TFEU Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union

VVG Versicherungsvertragsgesetz (Insurance Contract Act)

46 Tables

Tables

Table 1:	Overview of social security system and its coverage of third-country nationals	19
Table 2:	Claim period for ALG I	27
Table 3:	Overview of bilateral agreements with third countries regarding social security	37

Publications of the Research Centre of the Federal Office

Working Paper		10/2007	Familiennachzug in Deutschland Verfasser: Axel Kreienbrink und
1/2005	Die Datenlage im Bereich der Migrations- und Integrationsforschung		Stefan Rühl
	Verfasserin: Sonja Haug	11/2007	Türkische, griechische, italienische und polnische Personen sowie Personen aus
2/2005	Illegalität von Migranten in Deutschland Verfasserin: Susanne Worbs unter Mitar- beit von Michael Wolf und Peter Schimany		den Nachfolgestaaten des ehemaligen Jugoslawien in Deutschland Verfasser: Christian Babka von Gostomski
3/2005	Jüdische Zuwanderer in Deutschland Verfasserin: Sonja Haug unter Mitarbeit von Peter Schimany	12/2008	Kriminalität von Aussiedlern Eine Bestandsaufnahme Verfasser: Sonja Haug, Tatjana Baraulina, Christian Babka von Gostomski
4/2005	Die alternde Gesellschaft Verfasser: Peter Schimany		unter Mitarbeit von Stefan Rühl und Michael Wolf
5/2006	Integrationskurse Erste Erfahrungen und Erkenntnisse einer Teilnehmerbefragung Verfasser: Sonja Haug und Frithjof Zerger	13/2008	Schulische Bildung von Migranten in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 1 Verfasser: Manuel Siegert
6/2006	Arbeitsmarktbeteiligung von Ausländern im Gesundheitssektor in Deutschland Verfasser: Peter Derst, Barbara Heß und Hans Dietrich von Loeffelholz	14/2008	Sprachliche Integration von Migranten in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 2 Verfasserin: Sonja Haug
7/2006	Einheitliche Schulkleidung in Deutschland Verfasser: Stefan Theuer	15/2008	Healthy-Migrant-Effect, Erfassungsfehler und andere Schwierigkeiten bei der Analyse der Mortalität von Migranten Eine Bestandsaufnahme
8/2007	Soziodemographische Merkmale, Berufsstruktur und Verwandtschafts-		Verfasser: Martin Kohls
	netzwerke jüdischer Zuwanderer Verfasserin: Sonja Haug unter Mitarbeit von Michael Wolf	16/2008	Leben Migranten wirklich länger? Eine empirische Analyse der Mortalität von Migranten in Deutschland Verfasser: Martin Kohls
9/2007	Migration von Hochqualifizierten und hochrangig Beschäftigten aus Drittstaa- ten nach Deutschland Verfasserinnen: Barbara Heß und Lenore Sauer	17/2008	Die Einbürgerung von Ausländern in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 3 Verfasserin: Susanne Worbs

18/2008 19/2008	Die Datenlage im Bereich der internatio- nalen Migration in Europa und seinen Nachbarregionen Verfasser: Kevin Borchers unter Mitarbeit von Wiebke Breustedt Das Integrationspanel Ergebnisse zur Integration von Teilneh-	26/2009	schen Migrationsnetzwerks (EMN) (2. Auflage 2012) Verfasser: Jan Schneider Unbegleitete minderjährige Migranten in Deutschland Aufnahme, Rückkehr und Integration Studie II/2008 im Rahmen des Europäi-
	mern zu Beginn ihres Integrationskurses Verfasserin: Nina Rother		schen Migrationsnetzwerks (EMN) Verfasser: Bernd Parusel
20/2008	Aspekte der Arbeitsmarktintegration von Frauen ausländischer Nationalität in Deutschland Eine vergleichende Analyse über türkische, italienische, griechische und	27/2009	Grunddaten der Zuwandererbevölkerung in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 6 Verfasser: Stefan Rühl
	polnische Frauen sowie Frauen aus den Nachfolgestaaten des ehemaligen Jugos- lawiens Verfasserin: Anja Stichs	28/2009	Zuwanderung von Hochqualifizierten aus Drittstaaten nach Deutschland Ergebnisse einer schriftlichen Befragung Verfasserin: Barbara Heß
21/2008	Wohnen und innerstädtische Segregation von Zuwanderern in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 4 Verfasserin: Lena Friedrich	29/2010	Das Integrationspanel Ergebnisse einer Befragung von Teilnehmenden zu Beginn ihres Alphabetisierungskurses Verfasserin: Nina Rother
22/2009	Berufliche und akademische Ausbildung von Migranten in Deutschland aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 5 Verfasser: Manuel Siegert	30/2010	Europäische und nationale Formen der Schutzgewährung in Deutschland Studie II/2009 im Rahmen des Europäi- schen Migrationsnetzwerks (EMN)
23/2009	Das Integrationspanel Entwicklung von alltagsrelevanten		Verfasser: Bernd Parusel
	Sprachfertigkeiten und Sprachkompetenzen der Integrationskursteilnehmer während des Kurses Verfasserin: Nina Rother	31/2010	Rückkehrunterstützung in Deutschland Programme und Strategien zur Förde- rung von unterstützter Rückkehr und zur Reintegration in Drittstaaten Studie I/2009 im Rahmen des Europäi-
24/2009	Förderung der Bildungserfolge von Migranten: Effekte familienorientierter Projekte Abschlussbericht zum Projekt Bildungs-		schen Migrationsnetzwerks (EMN) Verfasser: Jan Schneider und Axel Kreienbrink
	erfolge bei Kindern und Jugendlichen mit Migrationshintergrund durch Zu- sammenarbeit mit den Eltern Verfasser: Lena Friedrich und Manuel Siegert unter Mitarbeit von Karin Schuller	32/2010	Deckung des Arbeitskräftebedarfs durch Zuwanderung Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Bernd Parusel und Jan Schneider
25/2009	Die Organisation der Asyl- und Zuwan- derungspolitik in Deutschland Studie I/2008 im Rahmen des Europäi-	33/2010	Interethnische Kontakte, Freundschaften, Partnerschaften und Ehen von

	Migranten in Deutschland	42/2012	Das Integrationspanel
	aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 7		Entwicklung der Deutschkenntnisse und
	Verfasserin: Sonja Haug		Fortschritte der Integration bei Teilneh-
24/2242	N. 1		menden an Alphabetisierungskursen
34/2010	Mediennutzung von Migranten in		Verfasserinnen: Karin Schuller,
	Deutschland		Susanne Lochner und Nina Rother unter
	aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 8		Mitarbeit von Denise Hörner
	Verfasserin: Susanne Worbs	42/2012	Mischausch des Deskte auf
25/2011	Zielesläne sond tempo enäme Microstian	43/2012	Missbrauch des Rechts auf Familiennachzug
35/2011	Zirkuläre und temporäre Migration Studie der deutschen nationalen		Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen
	Kontaktstelle für das Europäische		Kontaktstelle für das Europäische
	Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN)		Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN)
	Verfasser: Jan Schneider und		Verfasser: Andreas Müller
	Bernd Parusel		verrasser. I mareas maner
	2 0.114 1 41 4001	44/2012	Zuwanderung von Fachkräften nach
36/2011	Migranten am Arbeitsmarkt in Deutsch-	·	§ 18 AufenthG aus Drittstaaten nach
	land		Deutschland
	aus der Reihe "Integrationsreport", Teil 9		Ergebnisse einer schriftlichen Befragung
	Verfasser: Katharina Seebaß und		von Arbeitsmigranten
	Manuel Siegert		Verfasserin: Barbara Heß
		45/2012	Klimamigration
37/2011	Der Einfluss des Integrationskurses auf		Definitionen, Ausmaß und politische
	die Integration russisch- und türkisch-		Instrumente in der Diskussion
	stämmiger Integrationskursteilneh-		Verfasser: Bettina Müller, Marianne
	merinnen		Haase, Axel Kreienbrink und Susanne
	Verfasserin: Karin Schuller		Schmid
38/2011	Sozialversicherungspflichtig beschäftigte	46/2012	Politische Einstellungen und politische
30/2011	Ausländerinnen und Ausländer in quali-	40/ 2012	Partizipation von Migranten in
	fizierten Dienstleistungen		Deutschland
	Verfasserin: Barbara Heß		Verfasserinnen: Stephanie Müssig und
			Susanne Worbs
39/2011	Migranten im Niedriglohnsektor unter		
	besonderer Berücksichtigung der Gedul-	47/2012	Zuwanderung von internationalen
	deten und Bleibeberechtigten		Studierenden aus Drittstaaten
	Verfasser: Waldemar Lukas		Studie der deutschen nationalen
			Kontaktstelle für das Europäische
40/2011	Visumpolitik als Migrationskanal		Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN)
	Studie der deutschen nationalen		Verfasser: Matthias M. Mayer, Sakura
	Kontaktstelle für das Europäische		Yamamura, Jan Schneider und Andreas
	Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN)		Müller
	Verfasser: Bernd Parusel und		
	Jan Schneider	48/2012	Zuwanderung von selbständigen und
			freiberuflichen Migranten aus Drittstaa-
41/2012	Maßnahmen zur Verhinderung und		ten nach Deutschland
	Reduzierung irregulärer Migration		Verfasser: Andreas H. Block und Isabell
	Studie der deutschen nationalen		Klingert
	Kontaktstelle für das Europäische	40/2012	Missotian and Patricial-laws
	Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Jan Schneider	49/2012	Migration und Entwicklung Verfasser: Tatjana Baraulina, Doris Hilber
	verrasser, jan schnieider		und Axel Kreienbrink
			GIG TACI RICICIDITIA

50/2013	Ausländische Wissenschaftler in Deutschland	Forschungsberichte	
	Verfasser: Isabell Klingert und Andreas H. Block	1/2005	Der Einfluss von Zuwanderung auf die deutsche Gesellschaft Verfasser: Manfred Kohlmeier und
51/2013	EU-Binnenmobilität von Drittstaats- angehörigen		Peter Schimany
	Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Andreas Müller	2/2005	Illegal aufhältige Drittstaatsangehörige in Deutschland Verfasser: Annette Sinn, Axel Kreienbrink und Hans-Dietrich von Loeffelholz unter
52/2013	Das Integrationspanel		Mitarbeit von Michael Wolf
22, 2020	Langfristige Integrationsverläufe von ehemaligen Teilnehmenden an Integra- tionskursen Verfasser: Susanne Lochner, Tobias Büttner und Karin Schuller	3/2007	Abschlussbericht Zuwanderung und Integration von (Spät-)Aussiedlern Ermittlung und Bewertung der Auswir- kungen des Wohnortzuweisungsgesetzes Verfasserinnen: Sonja Haug und
53/2013	Gewinnung von hochqualifizierten und qualifizierten Drittstaatsangehörigen		Lenore Sauer
	Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Matthias M. Mayer	4/2007	Rückkehr aus Deutschland Verfasser: Axel Kreienbrink, Edda Currle, Ekkehart Schmidt-Fink, Manuela Westphal und Birgit Behrensen unter Mitarbeit von Magdalena Wille und
54/2013	Türkei - Migrationsprofil und migrati- onspolitische Entwicklungen		Mirjam Laaser
	Verfasser: Marianne Haase und Johannes Obergfell	5/2007	Migration und demographischer Wandel Verfasser: Peter Schimany
55/2013	Die Organisation der Aufnahme und Unterbrinung von Asylbewerbern in Deutschland Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen	6/2009	Muslimisches Leben in Deutschland Verfasserinnen: Sonja Haug, Stephanie Müssig und Anja Stichs
	Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Andreas Müller	7/2009	Vor den Toren Europas? Das Potenzial der Migration aus Afrika Verfasserin: Susanne Schmid unter Mitarbeit von Kevin Borchers
56/2013	Die Identifizierung von Opfern von Menschenhandel im Asylvefahren und im Fall der erzwungenen Rückkehr Fokus-Studie der deutschen nationalen Kontaktstelle für das Europäische Migrationsnetzwerk (EMN) Verfasser: Ulrike Hoffmann	8/2010	Fortschritte der Integration Zur Situation der fünf größten in Deutschland lebenden Ausländer- gruppen Verfasser: Christian Babka von Gostomski
		9/2011	Morbidität und Mortalität von Migranten in Deutschland Verfasser: Martin Kohls

10/2011	Generatives Verhalten und Migration Verfasser: Susanne Schmid und Martin Kohls		Verfasser: Peter Schimany, Stefan Rühl und Martin Kohls
11/2011	Das Integrationspanel Verfasserinnen: Karin Schuller, Susanne Lochner und Nina Rother	19/2013	Warum Deutschland? Einflussfaktoren bei der Zielstaatssuche von Asylbewerbern – Ergebnisse einer Expertenbefragung Verfasserin: Antonia Scholz
12/2012	Pflegebedürftigkeit und Nachfrage nach Pflegeleistungen bei Migranten im demographischen Wandel Verfasser: Martin Kohls	20/2013	(Spät-)Aussiedler in Deutschland Eine Analyse aktueller Daten und Forschungsergebnisse Verfasser: Susanne Worbs, Eva Bund, Martin Kohls und Christian Babka von Gostomski
	in Deutschland Verfasser: Dirk Halm, Martina Sauer, Jana Schmidt und Anja Stichs	21/2014	Geschlechterrollen bei Deutschen und Zuwanderern christlicher und muslimi- scher Religionszugehörigkeit
14/2012	Entwicklungspolitisch engagierte Migrantenorganisationen: Potenziale für die Integration in		Verfasserinnen: Inna Becher und Yasemin El-Menouar
	Deutschland? Verfasserinnen: Marianne Haase und Bettina Müller	22/2014	Die Integration von zugewanderten Ehegattinnen und Ehegatten in Deutschland BAMF-Heiratsmigrationsstudie 2013 Verfasser: Tobias Büttner und Anja Stichs
15/2012	Einbürgerungsverhalten von Ausländerinnen und Ausländern in Deutschland sowie Erkenntnisse zu Optionspflichtigen Ergebnisse der BAMF-Einbürgerungsstudie 2011 Verfasser: Martin Weinmann, Inna Becher und Christian Babka von Gostomski	23/2014	Beschäftigung ausländischer Absolventen deutscher Hochschulen Ergebnisse der BAMF-Absolventenstudie 2013 Verfasserinnen: Elisa Hanganu und Barbara Heß
16/2012	Die Optionsregelung im Staatsange- hörigkeitsrecht aus der Sicht von Betroffenen Qualitative Studie Verfasserinnen: Susanne Worbs, Antonia Scholz und Stefanie Blicke		
17/2012	Das Migrationspotenzial aus der GUS in die Europäische Union Verfasserin: Susanne Schmid		
18/2012	Ältere Migrantinnen und Migranten Entwicklungen, Lebenslagen, Perspektiven		

Imprint

Published by:

Federal Office for Migration and Refugees (BAMF) German National EMN Contact Point and Research Centre of the Federal Office 90461 Nuremberg

Overall responsibility:

Dr. Axel Kreienbrink (Research Centre) Birgit Gößmann (National EMN Contact Point)

Source of supply:

Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge Referat 230 Frankenstraße 210 90461 Nürnberg www.emn-germany.de E-Mail: emn@bamf.de

Authors:

Andreas Müller Matthias M. Mayer Nadine Bauer

Date:

October 2013

Layout:

Gertraude Wichtrey Claudia Sundelin

Picture credits:

Gertraude Wichtrey

Suggested citation:

Andreas Müller, Matthias M. Mayer, Nadine Bauer (2013): Social Security for Third-Country nationals in Germany, Working Paper 57 of the Research Centre of the Federal Office. Nuremberg: Federal Office for Migration and Refugees.

ISSN:

1865-4770 Printversion

ISSN:

1865-4967 Internetversion

The reproduction and distribution for free of the complete text or parts of it are permitted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the source is quoted. Prior consent of the Federal Office is required for distribution of the complete text or parts of it via electronic systems or data carriers. All other rights reserved.

